# THIOL-MEDIATED REDOX MODULATION OF THE ADAPTIVE

# **IMMUNE RESPONSE**

By

Zhonghua Yan

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Biological Chemistry) in The University of Michigan 2010

**Doctoral Committee:** 

Professor Ruma Banerjee, Chair Professor David P. Ballou Professor Malini Raghavan Professor Stephen W. Ragsdale Associate Professor Ursula H. Jakob To my wife, Ying Liu and my son, Chen Yan

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere thanks and gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Ruma Banerjee, a great mentor for both my professional and personal development. Her faith and passion in science is a great inspiration for me. I really feel lucky to have studied and worked under her guidance for the last six years. I greatly appreciate the tremendous assistance and encouragement she has provided me over the years. I would like to thank my supervisory committee members, Dr. Stephen W. Ragsdale, Dr. David P. Ballou, Dr. Malini Raghavan and Dr. Ursula H. Jakob for their invaluable help and suggestions at every stage of my Ph.D. study.

I would like to thank our collaborator from University of Virginia, Dr. Jonathan Kipnis, for his insightful suggestions and help for the initiation of this project. I would also like to acknowledge all members in our laboratory and in Dr. Ragsdale's laboratory for their great help and support in my study and research. Many special thanks to Dr. Sanjay K. Garg and Dr. Victor Vitvitsky for all the discussions about both the big picture and the fine details. Thanks to the faculty members, staffs and students of the Department of Biological Chemistry for providing a stimulating research environment.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents for their everlasting love and unconditional support. This thesis is dedicated to my wife, Ying Liu and my son, Chen Yan. It is their love and support that has made all the difference.

## PREFACE

This thesis is composed of five chapters. The introduction (chapter 1) is a review article about our current understanding of thiol-mediated immunoregulation (Yan Z. & Banerjee, R. 2010. Redox remodeling as an immunoregulatory strategy. Biochem. 49(6):1059-1066). Chapter 2 is a copy of publication by Yan Z. et al. (Yan Z., Garg S.K., Kipnis J., Banerjee, R. 2009. Extracellular redox modulation by regulatory T cells. Nat. Chem. Biol. 5:721-723). In this chapter, all authors contributed to the experimental design, data analysis and manuscript writing. Zhonghua Yan and Sanjay K. Garg performed the experiments. Contents of chapter 3 have been submitted for publication: Yan Z., Garg S.K., Banerjee, R. Regulatory T cells interfere with glutathione metabolism in dendritic cells and T cells. In this chapter, Zhonghua Yan and Ruma Banerjee designed research, analyzed data and wrote the paper; Zhonghua Yan and Sanjay K. Garg performed the experiments. Contents of chapter 4 were published in the following paper: Garg S.K.\*, Yan Z.\*, Vitvitsky V., Banerjee, R. 2010. Differential dependence on cysteine from transsulfuration versus transport during T cell activation. Antioxid. Redox Signal. (Epub ahead of print). \*These authors contributed equally. In this chapter, all authors contributed to research design, data analysis and paper writing; Zhonghua Yan and Sanjay K. Garg performed the experiments.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION ······ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ······iii
PREFACE ·····iv
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
ABSTRACT ······xii
Chapter 1. General Introduction1
1.1 Regulation of T cell activation by dendritic cells
1.2 Mechanisms of suppression by regulatory T cells4
1.3 Redox potentials in the intra- and extra-cellular compartments6
1.4 T cell induced extracellular redox remodeling by dendritic cells8
1.5 Redox signaling during T cell activation11
1.6 In vivo studies and therapeutic implications14
Figures ······17
References22
Chapter 2. Extracellular Redox Modulation by Regulatory T Cells
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction ····································
2.3 Results and Discussion
2.4 Materials and Methods
2.4.1 Mice
2.4.2 Cell purification and culture
2.4.3 Measurement of thiols and metabolic labeling
2.4.4 Western Blot analysis •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
2.4.5 T cell proliferation assay •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
2.4.6 Flow cytometry and confocal microscopy41
Figures43
Table56

apter 3. Regulatory T Cells Inter	fere with Glutathione Metabolis
Cells and T Cells	
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Introduction	
3.3 Materials and Methods	
3.3.1 Animals ·····	
3.3.2 Cell preparation and cell cr	ulture conditions
3.3.3 Measurement of thiols and	disulfides by HPLC
3.3.4 T cell proliferation assay	
3.3.5 Western blot analysis	
3.3.6 Metabolic labeling	
3.3.7 Confocal microscopy and f	luorescence analyses
3.3.8 Statistical analysis	
.4 Results	
3.4.1 Treg-mediated redox ren nonspecific	modeling is antigen-dependent
3.4.2 Treg-mediated redox remode	eling is contact and CTLA-4 dependence
3.4.3 Tregs interfere with GSH	metabolism in DCs
3.4.4 Cysteine uptake and utilization	tion by Tregs and Teffs
3.4.5 Tregs block GSH relocalization	ation in Teffs during T cell activa
5 Discussion	
igures eferences	
apter 4. Differential Dependenc Transport during T Cell	ce on Cysteine from Transsulfu Activation
.1 Abstract	
.2 Introduction	
3 Materials and Methods	
4.3.1 Mice and cell lines	
4.3.2 Isolation and preparation of	of murine primary cells
4.3.3 Cell culture conditions	
4.3.4 Metabolite analysis	
4.3.5 Western blot analysis ····	

4.3.7 Cell viability assay ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
4.3.8 Statistical analyses93
4.4 Results93
4.4.1 The x <sub>c</sub> <sup>-</sup> transporter is induced during APC-independent activation of T cells93
4.4.2 The $x_c^-$ transporter is induced during APC-dependent activation of T cells-94
4.4.3 Cystine/glutamate exchange is mediated by the $x_c$ transporter <b>94</b>
4.4.4 The endogenous transsulfuration pathway is a source of cysteine for GSH ir
naïve T cells ······95
4.4.5 T cells activate the transsulfuration pathway upon peroxide challenge96
4.4.6 Transformed T cells do not activate the transsulfuration pathway upon peroxide
challenge
4.4.7 Transsulfuration pathway blockade increases T cell susceptibility to oxidative
stress-induced cell death97
4.5 Discussion98
Figures103
References······111
Chapter 5. Conclusions and Perspectives114
5.1 Summary of findings114
5.2 A general mechanism of Treg suppression115
5.3 Future directions117
References······121

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Molecular interactions in the immune synapse17
Figure 1.2 Mechanisms used by regulatory T cells for suppressing autoreactive effector T
cells18
Figure 1.3 Correlated changes between cell cycle progression and the extra- and intra-
cellular redox potentials19
Figure 1.4 Mechanism of redox remodeling by DCs20
Figure 1.5 Redox signaling responses in DCs and T cells during T cell activation21
Figure 2.1 Mechanism of Cys <sub>ex</sub> accumulation43
Figure 2.2 Extracellular cystine consumption during DC and Tn cell co-culture44
<b>Figure 2.3</b> Effect of transwell culture on Cys <sub>ex</sub> accumulation45
Figure 2.4 Inhibition of GSH synthesis and GSH export but not the transsulfuration
pathway suppresses Cys <sub>ex</sub> accumulation ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
<b>Figure 2.5</b> Inhibition of the $x_c$ transporter decreases [GSH] <sub>in</sub> and GSH radioactivity
incorporation in DCs47
<b>Figure 2.6</b> Inhibition of Cys <sub>ex</sub> accumulation by SAS does not significantly affect Trx
secretion ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
<b>Figure 2.7</b> Co-culture of DCs with Tn cells, but not with Treg cells results in Cvsev
accumulation ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
Figure 2.8 Treg-mediated extracellular redox remodeling
<b>Figure 2.9</b> Treg cells suppress Cys <sub>m</sub> accumulation induced during co-culture of LPS-
activated DCs and Tn cells
<b>Figure 2.10</b> Exogenous Cys abrogates Treg-mediated suppression of T cell
proliferation
Figure 2.11 Exagencies Cys. does not change Teff and Treg. cell proliferation
Figure 2.12 Trag calls cause relatively small changes in call surface thield on DCs
and on T colla
Figure 2.13 Durity of Trog and Tr colla
Figure 2.13 Fully of free and fill cens
Figure 3.1 Antigen-dependent but antigen-nonspecific freg-mediated redox
remodeling
Figure 3.2 Contact and CILA-4 dependent redox remodeling by Iregs77
Figure 3.3 Tregs interfere with GSH synthesis by DCs78

Figure 3.4 Fate of cysteine in Tregs and Teffs79
Figure 3.5 Tregs block relocalization of nuclear GSH into cytoplasm in Teffs during T
cell activation ••••••80
Figure 3.6 Model showing mechanism of Treg-mediated redox remodeling81
Figure 4.1 Glutathione homeostasis in T cells by the $x_c$ transporter and the
transsulfuraton pathway102
Figure 4.2 Upregulation of activation associated markers on T cells surface103
Figure 4.3 T cells induce the cystine transporter during activation104
Figure 4.4 Activated but not naïve T cells mediate cystine/glutamate exchange via x <sub>c</sub> <sup>-</sup>
Figure 4.5 The transsulfuration pathway is intact in both naïve and activated T cells ••106
Figure 4.6 Peroxide stress activates the transsulfuration pathway in both naïve and
activated T cells107
Figure 4.7 Jurkat cells have an intact transsulfuration pathway that is unresponsive to
peroxide stress ······108
Figure 4.8 Blockade of the transsulfuration pathway enhances T cell susceptibility to
oxidative stress-induced cell death109

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AβH, L-aspartic acid β-hydroxamate

ACV, acivicin

AIDS, acquired immunodeficiency syndrome

AP1, activator protein 1

APC, antigen presenting cell

Bcl-2, B cell leukemia/lymphoma 2

BSO, buthionine sulfoximine

CBS, cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase

CMFDA, chloromethylfluorescein diacetate

CSE, γ-cystathionase

CTLA-4, cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4

DC, dendritic cell

FACS, fluorescence-activated cell sorting

Foxp3, forkhead box P3

 $\gamma$ -GCS,  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine synthetase

GGT, γ-glutamyltranspeptidase

GM-CSF, granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor

GRB2, growth factor receptor bound protein 2

GSH, glutathione

GSSG, glutathione disulfide

HIV, human immunodeficiency virus

HPLC, high performance liquid chromatography

ICAT, isotope-coded affinity tag

IDO, indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase

LAT, linker for activation of T cells

LCK, leukocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase

LPS, lipopolysaccharides

MRP1, multidrug resistance protein 1

MHC, major histocompatibility complex

NAC, N-acetyl-cysteine

NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate

Ncf1, neutrophil cytosolic factor 1 NF- $\kappa$ B, nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B Nrf-2, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor-2 PBS, phosphate buffered saline PDTC, pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate PFA, paraformaldehyde PLC  $\gamma 1$ , phospholipase C  $\gamma 1$ PMA, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate PPG, propargylglycine Ref-1, redox factor 1 ROS, reactive oxygen species SAS, sulfasalazine t-BuOOH, tertiary butyl hydroperoxide TCR, T cell receptor Teff, CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> effector T cell TGF $\beta$ , transforming growth factor beta Tn, naïve CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> T cells TNF, tumor necrosis factor Treg, CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cell Trx, thioredoxin ZAP-70, zeta-chain-associated protein kinase 70

## ABSTRACT

# THIOL-MEDIATED REDOX MODULATION OF THE ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSE

By

#### **Zhonghua Yan**

#### **Chair: Ruma Banerjee**

T cell activation and proliferation requires a reducing microenvironment that is provided by antigen presenting cells especially dendritic cells (DCs). Naturally occurring CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells (Tregs) suppress proliferation of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> effector T cells (Teffs) by mechanisms that are not well understood. Here, we have demonstrated that inhibition by Tregs of DC-induced extracellular redox remodeling is a component of the Treg immunosuppressive mechanism. We showed that the mechanism of redox remodeling during T cell activation involved secretion of glutathione (GSH) by dendritic cells and its subsequent cleavage to cysteine. Extracellular cysteine accumulation resulted in a lower redox potential, which is conducive to proliferation, and changed the net redox status of exofacial protein domains. Suppression of DC-dependent Teff cell proliferation by Tregs was correlated with a significant diminution in extracellular cysteine concentration and was abrogated by addition of exogenous cysteine. We demonstrated that Treg-mediated redox perturbation was antigen-dependent, antigennonspecific and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4-dependent. Tregs used multiple strategies for extracellular redox remodeling including modulation of GSH metabolism in DCs and competitive uptake of cysteine. By interfering with the extracellular cysteine pool, Tregs not only decreased the intracellular GSH levels in Teffs, but also blocked GSH relocalization into the cytoplasm, thus inhibiting T cell activation and proliferation.

The synthesis of GSH, a major cellular antioxidant with a critical role in T cell proliferation, is limited by cysteine. We have evaluated the contributions of the  $x_c$ <sup>-</sup> cystine transporter and the transsulfuration pathway to cysteine provision for GSH synthesis and antioxidant defense in naïve versus activated T cells and in the immortalized T lymphocyte cell line, Jurkat. We showed that the  $x_c$ <sup>-</sup> transporter while absent in naïve T cells, was induced after activation. We also demonstrated the existence of an intact transsulfuration pathway in naïve and activated T cells and in Jurkat cells. The flux through the transsulfuration pathway increased in primary T cells in response to oxidative challenge by peroxide. Inhibition of the transsulfuration pathway in both primary and transformed T cells decreased cell viability under oxidative stress conditions.

### Chapter 1

### **General Introduction**

#### **1.1 Regulation of T cell activation by dendritic cells**

The immune system is composed of a variety of organs, cells and molecules that protect an organism from infections by pathogens and from the growth of tumors. It is typically divided into two categories, the innate immune system and the adaptive immune system. Innate immunity provides the first line of defense against pathogens in a non-specific manner. Components of the innate immune system include the skin and the mucous membranes, physiological conditions such as temperature and pH, phagocytic cells such as tissue macrophages, and inflammation. Adaptive immunity only exists in vertebrates, reacting to antigens with a high degree of specificity and immunological memory. B cells, T cells and the molecules they produce, including antibodies and cytokines, are the main agents of adaptive immunity. The adaptive immune response is initiated by the innate immune system via the process of antigen presentation. These two immune systems interact and collaborate, increasing the effectiveness of the immune response (*1*).

T cells derive their name from the thymus, the organ in which they mature and are distinguished by the presence of T cell receptors (TCRs). The latter recognize antigens bound to the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules on antigen presenting cells (MHC class II) or target cells (MHC class I). Like most immune cells,

T cells are initially derived from hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow where progenitor T cells are formed. They migrate to the thymus via the bloodstream to mature via positive and negative selection processes (2). "Naïve" T cells released from the thymus have yet to encounter an antigen and are in the G0 stage of the cell cycle. They circulate through the vascular system to secondary lymphoid tissues such as lymph nodes where they may encounter antigen-MHC complexes and in the process, become activated. Activated T cells play important roles in cell-mediated functions in the adaptive immune system and their dysfunction is manifest in a number of immune diseases (*3*).

Antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and B cells express MHC class II molecules and co-stimulatory molecules on their membranes, and specialize in presenting antigens to naïve  $CD4^+$  T cells. DCs are the most potent professional antigen presenting cells (4) and originate from hematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow. Precursor DCs are released from the bone marrow and circulate in the bloodstream to different tissues where they reside as immature DCs until they encounter antigens. Once internalized, antigens are processed and then displayed on MHC class II molecules and the resulting mature DCs migrate to lymph nodes where they interact with and activate antigen-specific T cells, which subsequently proliferate and differentiate into effector T cell subsets (2, 5, 6).

Classically, three sets of signals in the immune synapse are recognized to be essential for priming naïve T cells: (i) specific engagement of the TCR by an antigen-MHC class II complex, (ii) interactions between co-stimulatory molecules, CD28 on T cells and CD80/86 on the antigen presenting cells, and (iii) secretion of cytokines (Fig. 1.1A). These signals result in the activation, survival, and differentiation of T cells. In

addition to these signals, T cell activation and proliferation requires a reducing microenvironment that is achieved by cysteine secretion from antigen presenting cells (7, 8). Cysteine is the major low molecular weight thiol compound in the reducing milieu (7, 9). It is the limiting amino acid for glutathione (GSH) synthesis. In T cells, GSH is shown to be important for the proliferative response of T cells to mitogens and antigens (10). Extracellular cysteine concentration significantly affects intracellular GSH levels, viability and DNA synthesis of T cells. However, cysteine is easily oxidized to cystine in the oxygenated extracellular space. The concentration of cysteine in the plasma (10-25)  $\mu$ M) is much lower than of cystine (100-200  $\mu$ M) (11). Naïve T cells can not take up cystine efficiently due to the low expression of the x<sub>c</sub> cystine transporter. However, antigen presenting cells such as DCs possess the  $x_c$  cystine antiporter, which can take up cystine from the extracellular space in exchange for glutamate. The cystine imported by DCs is processed via an elaborate pathway to furnish extracellular cysteine that can be utilized by T cells. Interaction of antigen presenting cells with T cells further increases cysteine production and also induces secretion of thioredoxin 1 (Trx1). In this way, antigen presenting cells supply T cells with a reducing extracellular milieu necessary for T cell proliferation and function (7).

The physiological relevance of redox remodeling by antigen presenting cells for T cell activation is demonstrated by the hyporesponsiveness of T cells from normal gut, which results from the inability of mucosal macrophages to provide a reducing microenvironment and contrasts with the presence of this capacity in peripheral blood monocytes in the same organism (12, 13). Under conditions of chronic mucosal inflammation as seen in inflammatory bowel disease, ulcerative colitis, and Crohn's

disease, recruitment of peripheral blood monocytes results in sustained antigen-driven responses of T cells in the gut and is believed to be important in the etiology of these diseases (13).

### 1.2 Mechanisms of suppression by regulatory T cells

Discriminating self from non-self is a primary function of the immune system, and regulatory T cells play a cardinal role in maintaining self-tolerance and preventing autoimmunity by mechanisms that remain to be fully elucidated (14-16). To achieve selftolerance, T cells are "educated" in the thymus and autoreactive T cells are destroyed. However, a small fraction of self-reactive T cells escape from the thymus into the periphery, and if left unchecked, can cause autoimmune diseases (17). Naturally occurring CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells, which comprise about 5%-10% of total  $CD4^+$  T cell population, suppress autoreactive T cells to maintain immune tolerance (18). Sakaguchi and coworkers made the groundbreaking discovery of this distinct T cell subpopulation in 1995 and demonstrated that depletion of the CD25<sup>+</sup> population from the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells induced autoimmunity when T cells were transferred to the immunodeficient nude mice (14). In contrast, transfer of the  $CD4^+CD25^+$  T cells together with the CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> T cells prevented autoimmune diseases. Besides the role of regulatory T cells in controlling autoimmunity, they also play important roles in controlling anti-microbial, anti-tumor responses and transplantation immunity (18). Mutations in the transcriptional regulator, Foxp3, which is preferentially expressed in regulatory T cells (19), results in multiorgan autoimmune diseases and is fatal (20). Foxp3 is the master regulator for regulatory T cell development in the thymus and for the

suppressive function of regulatory T cells (20). The co-receptor, cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) (21), expressed preferentially on regulatory T cells, interacts with CD80/CD86 (Fig. 1.1B), i.e., the same ligand that binds CD28 expressed on naive T cells. However, CTLA-4 interacts with CD80/CD86 with much higher affinity and suppresses induction of CD80/86 expression by antigen-specific T cells, consequently limiting the capacity for activating naïve T cells (22). Regulatory T cells mature in the thymus, migrate to lymph nodes and are activated by self or nonself antigen-presenting cells. The homing receptors on regulatory T cells enable them to traffic to sites of infection to control immune responses (15). Regulatory T cells also suppress the activation and proliferation of B cells, DCs and natural killer cells by mechanisms that remain to be fully elucidated (23).

Some of the strategies used by regulatory T cells for mediating their suppressive effects (*15*, *16*) are shown in Fig. 1.2 and include: (i) secretion of inhibitory cytokines viz. TGF $\beta$ , IL-35 and IL-10 (*24-26*), (ii) cytolytic suppression by secretion of the proteases granzyme-A or granzyme-B (*27*, *28*). (iii) metabolic disruption e.g. by direct transfer of cAMP to effector T cells (*29*) or by secretion of pericellular adenosine (*30*), which inhibits effector T cell functions and enhances induced regulatory T cell generation, (iv) suppression of DC maturation and/or function (*31*) by induction of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, which catalyzes the rate-limiting step in tryptophan catabolism and creates in turn, a shortage of this essential amino acid for effector T cells (*32*), and (v) by interfering with extracellular reductive redox remodeling by DCs during T cell activation (*8*). The panoply of suppressive strategies identified to date for regulatory T cells raises questions about their integration and relative importance in vivo. In the proposed

"hierarchical" model, one or few master mechanisms govern regulatory T cell suppressive functions in various physiological settings (*16*). Alternatively, in the "contextual" model, the microenvironment and tissue compartment govern the suppressive strategy that is deployed, resulting in the differential contribution of a given mechanism in different disease models (*16*). Given the importance of regulatory T cells in controlling autoimmunity and inflammation, and their influence on tumor and microbial immunity, elucidation of the mechanisms by which these cell types exert their effects have important implications for therapeutic target identification and development of intervention strategies.

#### 1.3 Redox potentials in the intra- and extra-cellular compartments

The cytoplasmic and extracellular redox potentials are vastly different and influence the structure, stability, and function of the macromolecules that reside in each compartment. Within the intracellular compartments, several redox buffers exist e.g. Trx, GSH, and cysteine, and the relative concentrations of their oxidized versus reduced species sets the ambient redox poise for the system. Interestingly, the individual redox systems appear to be under kinetic control, are not in equilibrium with each other, and independently regulate the redox status of their client redox partners (*33, 34*). Quantitatively, GSH is the major intracellular redox buffer and is found at concentrations ranging from 0.5-10 mM in mammalian cells (*35*). The intracellular GSH/GSSG (glutathione disulfide) redox potential in dividing cells is estimated to range from -260 mV to -230 mV and is progressively more oxidized in cells undergoing differentiation/growth arrest (-220 mV to -190 mV) or apoptosis (-170 mV to -150 mV) (33) (Fig. 1.3). The redox potentials for the  $Trx1_{red}/Trx1_{ox}$  couple in cytoplasm and nuclei are ~-280 mV and -300 mV, respectively, while the redox potential of mitochondrial  $Trx2_{red}/Trx2_{ox}$  couple is estimated to range from -360 mV to -340 mV (34).

Extracellularly, the cysteine/cystine couple represents the major thiol/disulfide redox buffer. Plasma cystine and cysteine concentrations are reported to be 100-200  $\mu$ M and 10-25  $\mu$ M, respectively and a redox potential of ~-80 mV for this couple has been estimated for plasma in healthy humans (*11*). Paralleling the changes in the intracellular GSH/GSSG redox potential, increasing extracellular cysteine/cystine potentials are associated with cells undergoing proliferation (<-80 mV), differentiation/growth arrest (~-80 mV) or apoptosis (0 mV to -80 mV) (Fig. 1.3). An age-dependent increase in the extracellular redox potential has been reported, which is also influenced by lifestyle choices such as smoking and by diseases such as AIDS (*33*). In contrast to the intracellular compartment, the GSH concentration in the extracellular space is very low (2-4  $\mu$ M in human plasma). A major fate of secreted GSH is cleavage to its component amino acids, glutamate, cysteine, and glycine. The cysteine thus released is a major source of extracellular cysteine and cystine, which is formed rapidly in the oxidizing milieu of this compartment (*36*).

Although dynamic regulation of the extracellular redox potential, which is linked to intracellular metabolism, has an important bearing on cell function, it is less well-studied and appreciated than intracellular redox control and its perturbations in pathological states. Reactive cysteines on proteins can be reversibly oxidized to sulfenic acids or form disulfide bonds, which can induce changes in their structure and function and elicit downstream effects in redox signaling pathways (*37, 38*). Disulfide bonds on

ectodomains of membrane proteins and in secreted soluble and matrix proteins form a dynamic scaffold that can be reorganized by their shuffling or by their reduction (*39*). It has been proposed that a general loosening of the extracellular disulfide crosslink scaffold might precede cell division (*40*, *41*). Cancer cells typically have higher membrane thiol levels in comparison to nontransformed cells, and it is speculated that this might facilitate higher proliferative rates (*42*). The redox status of specific membrane proteins influence their transport or receptor activity (*33*). For instance, CD4 (cluster of differentiation 4), a glycoprotein found on the surface of helper T cells that is used as a receptor by HIV-1 for gaining entry, has a redox sensitive disulfide bond in one of its four immunoglobulin-like domains (D2). T cell activation shifts the equilibrium from the disulfide to the dithiol state (*43*). Locking the dithiols in the D2 domain by chemical modification blocks HIV-1 entry, indicating that a redox-linked conformational change in CD4 is critical for viral penetration into T cells (*43*).

#### 1.4 T cell induced extracellular redox remodeling by dendritic cells

DCs are the key regulators in the adaptive immune system. Not only can they initiate the primary immune responses, but they also induce the immune tolerance and regulate responses of different T cell subsets depending on the context (*5*, *6*). Upon interaction with T cells, DCs release cytokines as well as other low molecular weight metabolites such as cysteine, glutamate and serotonin to modulate T cell immunity. Serotonin released by DCs binds to the serotonin receptors on T cells, decreasing cAMP levels, thus promoting T cell activation (*44*). DC-T cell interaction results in accumulation of glutamate, which acts on metabotropic glutamate receptor 1 and 5 to

modulate T cell activation (45). DCs can also take up cystine and release cysteine, Trx, and GSH into the extracellular space, thereby modulating the extracellular redox environment for optimal T cell function (7, 46).

The physiological relevance of extracellular reductive modeling during an adaptive immune response is supported by the dramatic increase in free thiols in lymphoid tissue following immunization (47). Under these conditions, enhanced nonprotein thiol staining is observed both inside cells and in the extracellular space. In contrast, Peyer's patches from the gut shows virtually no staining for nonprotein thiols under these conditions, consistent with the antigenic hyporesponsiveness of this intestinal microenvironment (*12*, *13*).

The magnitude of extracellular cyteine accumulation during activation of T cells increases with time and with the DC to T cell ratio and requires sustained contact between DCs and T cells. Increased cell surface thiols on T cells is correlated with increased production of the cytokine, IL-2, in vitro and enhanced proliferation in vivo (48). Naïve T cells require cysteine for GSH synthesis. However, cysteine is the least abundant of all amino acids in circulation (49) and naïve T cells are unable to import cystine efficiently due to the low expression of the cystine transporter,  $x_c^-$  (50), thus creating a metabolic dependence on antigen presenting cells to meet their cysteine needs. Antigen presenting cells possess the  $x_c^-$  antiporter that uses the glutamate gradient to drive import of cystine, which is subsequently converted to cysteine in the reducing intracellular milieu and is ultimately secreted into the extracellular space. Evidence has been accumulating that extracellular cysteine plays an important role in modulation of T cell functions (49, 50). Small variations in extracellular cysteine concentration strongly

influence T cell functions even in a background of high cystine concentration (9, 51). Thus, antigen presenting cells such as DCs and macrophages can regulate T cell activation and proliferation by modulation of cysteine supply.

In addition to stimulating cysteine secretion, the interaction between antigen presenting cells and T cells results in the appearance of extracellular Trx1 (7). Trx1 is secreted by several cell types via a nonclassical leaderless secretory pathway under conditions of oxidative stress and inflammation (52). Secreted Trx1 does not appear to play a role in direct reduction of extracellular cystine leading to cysteine accumulation during T cell activation (8). Extracellular Trx1 interacts in a redox-sensitive manner with the TNF receptor superfamily member 8 (53) and exhibits proinflammatory effects by stimulating cytokine release and proliferation of lymphocytes (52, 54).

The pathway for extracellular cysteine accumulation during co-culture of DCs and naïve T cells has been mapped recently (8). In principle, two metabolic routes could be considered to lead to enhanced cysteine accumulation outside the cell (Fig. 1.4): (i) the transsulfuration pathway (blue), which provides an avenue for conversion of methionine to cysteine, and (ii) import of cystine into the cell where it is rapidly reduced to cysteine and converted to GSH, which is subsequently secreted and degraded by the ectoenzymes  $\gamma$ -glutamyltranspeptidase and a dipeptidase. Metabolic labeling and pharmacological inhibition studies have established the involvement of the convoluted metabolic pathway originating in cystine and culminating in GSH-derived cysteine as the source of extracellular cysteine provided by DCs (8). This pathway demonstrates the dynamic interplay between the intra- and extra-cellular compartments for redox homeostasis via interconnected but independent redox nodes, i.e., GSH and cysteine.

The extracellular cysteine/cystine redox potential for DCs in culture is ~-80 mV, a value that is consistent for cells experiencing growth arrest (8). Naive T cells in culture that have not received activation signals are fated to undergo apoptosis and exhibit an extracellular cysteine/cystine redox potential of ~-45 mV. In contrast, when naïve T cells receive activation signals during co-culture with DCs, a more reducing extracellular environment reflected in a redox potential of -110 mV (at 36 h), results. This redox potential change is consistent with conditions that are conducive for T cell proliferation (8).

In addition to triggering intracellular signaling pathways, engagement of DCs and T cells during activation leads to dynamic changes in the redox status of exofacial proteins in both cell types. A 30 mV potential shift is expected to lead to a 10-fold change in the ratio of reduced:oxidized cysteines in proteins. Indeed, enhanced cell surface labeling of protein thiols with the fluorescent dye, Alexa-maleimide, is seen during co-culture of DCs and T cells (by ~4 and 8-fold respectively) as visualized by confocal microscopy and quantified by FACS analysis (*8*).

#### **1.5 Redox signaling during T cell activation**

Paralleling reductive remodeling of the extracellular redox poise with consequent effects on the exofacial protein thiol status and intracellular redox metabolism, is the initiation of a flurry of redox-active signaling across the immune synapse. The timing and balance between oxidative and reductive responses to engagement of antigen presenting cells and T cells are important for modulating activation, proliferation, and apoptosis of T cells. At low levels, ROS (reactive oxygen species) e.g.  $H_2O_2$  and  $O_2^{-}$ , are considered to

be mitogenic and their downstream effects are commonly mediated via changes in protein phosphorylation and/or activation/inhibition of transcription factors (*55*). Crosslinking of the TCR and the co-stimulatory molecule, CD28, results in enhanced intracellular H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> production that is needed for NF- $\kappa$ B activation and IL-2 and IL-2 receptor  $\alpha$  chain gene transcription (*56*) and is consistent with an important role for ROS in the immediate early events during activation. Significant sources of ROS include membrane-bound NADPHdependent oxidase, lipoxygenase, and the mitochondrial respiratory chain (Fig. 1.5A, red arrows). However, sustained pro-oxidant conditions inhibit T cell proliferation and promote apoptosis (*57*).

During activation, increased ROS levels launch an antioxidant response that is relayed via signaling pathways in antigen presenting cells and in T cells and result in activation of protein tyrosine kinases (e.g. Fyn, Src, and Lck in T cells (Fig. 1.5B)), oxidative inhibition of protein tyrosine phosphatases e.g. SHP1 and activation of transcription factors e.g. NF- $\kappa$ B (*58*). The NF- $\kappa$ B pathway regulates the expression of various inflammatory genes including cytokines, chemokines, and costimulatory molecules. We speculate that as a consequence of an initial increase in ROS levels by mechanisms that are not clear, NF- $\kappa$ B is activated in DCs and stimulates GSH biogenesis (via activation of  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine ligase (*59*)) (Fig. 1.5A, red arrows). Increased GSH synthesis is both an autocorrective reaction to oxidizing conditions and initiates the next response phase, i.e., an antioxidant wave (Fig. 1.5A, blue arrows). We hypothesize that the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway is important for stimulating extracellular cysteine accumulation (*8*). The combined effect of these cellular responses would be the initiation of an antioxidant response leading to a reductive milieu both in the intra- and extracellular space that is conducive to T cell proliferation. The importance of plasticity in redox remodeling during T cell activation is supported by the observation that deficiency of Ncf1 encoding neutrophil cytosolic factor 1 (or P47phox), the activating protein in the NADPH oxidase complex, results in a reduced capacity for reactive oxygen species genesis, increased cell surface thiols, and enhanced T cell autoreactivity in an arthritis model (*48*).

GSH serves as an important proliferative signal in T lymphocytes (60) and is required for cell cycle progression from the G1 to S phase (61). It is needed for the activity of ribonucleotide reductase and therefore, for DNA synthesis (62). Furthermore, the activities of telomerase (63) and of key transcriptional factors, e.g. NF- $\kappa$ B and AP1 (64), and cell cycle proteins e.g. Id2 and E2F4 (63) are redox regulated. GSH is concentrated in the nucleus during the early phase of cell proliferation and becomes more evenly distributed in confluent cells (65). GSH regulates nuclear protein function via glutathionylation and protects DNA from oxidative damage during the key stage of replication (65). ROS can either activate or inactivate specific redox-sensitive targets at cell cycle checkpoints, thus deciding cell fate (66). Overexpression of the B cell leukemia/lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) protein results in increased synthesis and nuclear sequestration of GSH and decreased sensitivity to apoptosis (67).

Redox signaling cascades are also elicited in T cells upon activation. For instance, a 10-30% decrease in intracellular GSH in peripheral T lymphocytes completely abrogates T cell receptor-stimulated calcium signaling (*68*). The adaptor protein linker for activation of T cells (LAT) (Fig. 1.5B), a membrane protein that plays a central role in signal transduction during T cell activation, is also influenced by the intracellular redox

status (69). Marked diminution in intracellular GSH level as seen under chronic oxidative stress conditions causes a conformational change in LAT, apparently via formation of an intramolecular disulfide bond, and results in its displacement from the membrane (69). This cytoplasmic relocalization results in failure to phosphorylate in response to T cell activation and derails the signal transduction cascade that leads eventually to expression of IL-2 and other genes. This redox-sensitive conformational displacement is associated with the hyporesponsive phenotype of synovial T cells in rheumatoid arthritis because of their depleted antioxidant capacity resulting from the chronic inflammation associated with this disease of the joints (69).

In summary, redox responsive signaling networks during T cell priming involves dynamic and spatially regulated changes in the intra- and extra-cellular compartments and comprises both small molecules (e.g. ROS and redox-active metabolites) and proteins. Redox signaling has several important implications for T cell biology (*55*). Hypoxic conditions as encountered in poorly oxygenated tumors might limit the efficiency of T cell priming and contribute to their anergic phenotype in this environment. Alternatively, a pro-oxidant environment resulting from ROS production by active neutrophils might facilitate the priming of T cells or if overwhelming, impair signaling and lead to abrogation of cell inhibitory signals normally delivered by autoantigens. Additionally, redox signaling appears to influence T cell commitment to the Th1, Th2, and regulatory T cell phenotypes (*70, 71*).

#### **1.6 In vivo studies and therapeutic implications**

The redox status of secondary lymphoid organs such as lymph nodes and spleens are more reducing than non-lymphoid organs (47). The nonprotein thiol content in

lymphoid tissues is reported to increase in response to immunization with DCs, B cells, and macrophages, contributing to the reductive remodeling (47, 72). It is speculated that the reducing microenvironment might protect lymphoid organs from oxidative stress during T cell activation and antibody production (73, 74). However, low levels of ROS are essential for the onset of the immune response. In vivo treatment of mouse models with catalytic antioxidants (manganese porphyrin derivatives) causes inefficient CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell activation and proliferation by inhibiting generation of ROS in antigen presenting cells (75). The catalytic antioxidants inhibit DNA binding by NF- $\kappa$ B and subsequent production of proinflammatory cytokines (76). Redox modulation by catalytic antioxidants also suppresses CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell functions such as proliferation and lysis of target cells (77).

The  $x_c^-$  cystine transporter, which transports cystine using the glutamate gradient, plays an important role in redox-based immunoregulation. Under normal conditions, lamina propria macrophages are unable to transport cystine and secrete cysteine because they lack the  $x_c^-$  transporter (*13*). In inflammatory bowel disease, local recruitment of peripheral blood monocytes which exhibits high expression of the  $x_c^-$  transporter leads to extracellular cysteine accumulation and hyperreactivity of lamina propria T cells (*13*). Furthermore, lymphoma cells, which cannot import cystine like naïve T cells, depend on tumor-associated somatic cells such as activated macrophages and DCs for their cysteine supply. Inhibition of the  $x_c^-$  transporter by sulfasalazine inhibits growth of lymphoma cells and tumor progression (*78*). Overexpression of the  $x_c^-$  transporter in lymphoma cells greatly increases intracellular and extracellular cysteine levels, protecting cells from oxidative stress induced cell death (*79*). Redox modulation as a strategy for immunoregulation has been used in several diseases. HIV infects and kills  $CD4^+$  T cells, leading to a significant decrease in functional  $CD4^+$  T cells in AIDS. HIV infected individuals have lower cellular and plasma GSH levels compared with healthy controls, which correlates with low T cell numbers and deficient function. Administration of N-acetyl cysteine, a cysteine precursor, restores intracellular GSH levels and has shown benefits for HIV-infected individuals (*80*). Sulfasalazine is used in the treatment of T cell mediated autoimmune diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease and rheumatoid arthritis. It decreases proliferation of autoreactive T cells by inhibiting the  $x_c^-$  cystine transporter thereby perturbing the redox environment (*81*).

Since regulatory T cells play a central role in suppression of various immune responses, manipulation of their function is an important strategy for immune intervention. Enhancing regulatory T cell function in autoimmunity, allergy, transplantation, and pregnancy disorders can diminish unwanted immune responses. On the other hand, attenuating regulatory T cell function in cancer and microbial infection may be desirable (*82*). The recent identification of a novel immunosuppressive strategy deployed by regulatory T cells, which impacts the intra- and extra-cellular redox environments during T cell activation (*8*), illuminates a new therapeutic target.



**Figure 1.1 Molecular interactions in the immune synapse.** (A) Signals required for  $CD4^+$  T cell activation and proliferation include: (i) TCR-antigen•MHC complex interaction, (ii) interaction of CD28 on T cells and CD80/CD86 on the antigen presenting cells, (iii) secreted cytokines such as IL-6, IL-12 and TGF $\beta$  and (iv) a reducing microenvironment shaped mainly by extracellular cysteine accumulation. (B) Interaction of regulatory T cells with antigen presenting cells. Regulatory T cells constitutively express high levels of CTLA-4, which interacts with CD80/CD86 on antigen presenting cells, thus inhibiting their presentation capacity for interactions with effector T cells.



Figure 1.2 Mechanisms used by regulatory T cells for suppressing autoreactive effector T cells. Regulatory T cells suppress the function of effector T cells via the following mechanisms: (i) secretion of inhibitory cytokines such as TGF $\beta$ , IL-10 and IL-35, (ii) cytolysis by granzyme A or granzyme B, (iii) disruption of important metabolites including cAMP and adenosine, (iv) inhibition of DC function via the CTLA4-dependent induction of indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO) and (v) modulation of the extracellular redox microenvironment. The red arrows denote the actions of regulatory T cells.



**Figure 1.3 Correlated changes between cell cycle progression and the extra- and intra-cellular redox potentials.** The GSH/GSSG couple represents the major intracellular redox buffer. The redox potential of the intracellular GSH/GSSG couple becomes more oxidized when cells progress from proliferation (-260 mV to -230 mV) to differentiation/growth arrest (-220 mV to -190 mV) to apoptosis (-170 mV to -150 mV). The cysteine/cystine couple is the main extracellular thiol/disulfide pool. Changes in the extracellular cysteine/cystine redox potential follows the same pattern, i.e., it is most reduced during proliferation (<-80 mV) and becomes increasingly oxidized during differentiation/growth arrest (~-80 mV) and apoptosis (0 mV to -80 mV). This figure is adapted from reference (*33*).



Figure 1.4 Mechanism of redox remodeling by DCs. The possible sources of extracellular cysteine that accumulates during DC and T cell co-culture include: (i) increased flux through the transsulfuration pathway leading to enhanced synthesis of cysteine from methionine, (ii) direct reduction from cystine catalyzed by extracellular thioredoxin. (iii)  $x_c$ -dependent import of cystine, its subsequent intracellular conversion to GSH, which is exported and degraded by the ectoenzyme,  $\gamma$ -glutamyltranspeptidase and a membrane-bound dipeptidase to furnish cysteine. The extracellular accumulation of cysteine results in a reducing microenvironment for T cell activation and proliferation and also provides T cells with cysteine needed for the synthesis of GSH.



**Figure 1.5 Redox signaling responses in DCs and T cells during T cell activation.** (A) Redox signaling in DCs. The TCR-antigen•MHC complex interaction and the costimulatory signal results in an immediate early pro-oxidant response in DCs with ROS production e.g. by lipoxygenase and NADPH oxidase. Low levels of ROS act as signaling molecules to inhibit protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) and activate protein kinases. ROS also activates the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, which stimulates the expression of  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine ligase, thus increasing GSH synthesis. GSH activates the AP1 signaling pathway and initiates an antioxidant response. We postulate that system  $x_c$ -dependent cystine uptake, GSH export and degradation into extracellular cysteine are stimulated as part of this response. (B) TCR signaling in T cells. Stimulation of T cells by DCs via the TCR results in phosphorylation and activation of ZAP-70 by leukocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase (LCK). ZAP-70 directly phosphorylates the adaptor protein LAT and causes the assembly of multiprotein signaling complexes. Recruitment of the growth factor receptor bound protein 2 (GRB2) and phospholipase C  $\gamma$ 1 (PLC $\gamma$ 1) to LAT leads to activation of downstream Ras and calcium signaling pathways.

## References

- 1. Goldsby, R. A., Kindt, T.J., Osborne B.A. (2003) *Kuby Immunology* 5th ed., W. H. Freeman, New York.
- 2. Tseng, S. Y., and Dustin, M. L. (2002) T-cell activation: a multidimensional signaling network, *Curr Opin Cell Biol 14*, 575-580.
- 3. Abbas, A. K. (2003) The control of T cell activation vs. tolerance, *Autoimmun Rev 2*, 115-118.
- 4. Banchereau, J., and Steinman, R. M. (1998) Dendritic cells and the control of immunity, *Nature 392*, 245-252.
- 5. Banchereau, J., Briere, F., Caux, C., Davoust, J., Lebecque, S., Liu, Y. J., Pulendran, B., and Palucka, K. (2000) Immunobiology of dendritic cells, *Annu Rev Immunol 18*, 767-811.
- 6. Lanzavecchia, A., and Sallusto, F. (2001) Regulation of T cell immunity by dendritic cells, *Cell 106*, 263-266.
- 7. Angelini, G., Gardella, S., Ardy, M., Ciriolo, M. R., Filomeni, G., Di Trapani, G., Clarke, F., Sitia, R., and Rubartelli, A. (2002) Antigen-presenting dendritic cells provide the reducing extracellular microenvironment required for T lymphocyte activation, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99*, 1491-1496.
- 8. Yan, Z., Garg, S. K., Kipnis, J., and Banerjee, R. (2009) Extracellular redox modulation by regulatory T cells, *Nat Chem Biol* 5, 721-723.
- 9. Gmunder, H., Eck, H. P., Benninghoff, B., Roth, S., and Droge, W. (1990) Macrophages regulate intracellular glutathione levels of lymphocytes. Evidence for an immunoregulatory role of cysteine, *Cell Immunol 129*, 32-46.
- 10. Smyth, M. J. (1991) Glutathione modulates activation-dependent proliferation of human peripheral blood lymphocyte populations without regulating their activated function, *J Immunol 146*, 1921-1927.
- Eck, H. P., Gmunder, H., Hartmann, M., Petzoldt, D., Daniel, V., and Droge, W. (1989) Low concentrations of acid-soluble thiol (cysteine) in the blood plasma of HIV-1-infected patients, *Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler 370*, 101-108.
- 12. Sido, B., Braunstein, J., Breitkreutz, R., Herfarth, C., and Meuer, S. C. (2000) Thiol-mediated redox regulation of intestinal lamina propria T lymphocytes, *J Exp Med 192*, 907-912.

- Sido, B., Lasitschka, F., Giese, T., Gassler, N., Funke, B., Schroder-Braunstein, J., Brunnemer, U., Meuer, S. C., and Autschbach, F. (2008) A prominent role for mucosal cystine/cysteine metabolism in intestinal immunoregulation, *Gastroenterology 134*, 179-191.
- 14. Sakaguchi, S., Sakaguchi, N., Asano, M., Itoh, M., and Toda, M. (1995) Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases, *J Immunol 155*, 1151-1164.
- 15. Sakaguchi, S., Yamaguchi, T., Nomura, T., and Ono, M. (2008) Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance, *Cell 133*, 775-787.
- 16. Vignali, D. A., Collison, L. W., and Workman, C. J. (2008) How regulatory T cells work, *Nat Rev Immunol* 8, 523-532.
- 17. Fehervari, Z., and Sakaguchi, S. (2006) Peacekeepers of the immune system, *Sci Am* 295, 56-63.
- 18. Sakaguchi, S. (2004) Naturally arising CD4+ regulatory T cells for immunologic self-tolerance and negative control of immune responses, *Annu Rev Immunol 22*, 531-562.
- 19. Hori, S., Nomura, T., and Sakaguchi, S. (2003) Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3, *Science 299*, 1057-1061.
- 20. Bennett, C. L., Christie, J., Ramsdell, F., Brunkow, M. E., Ferguson, P. J., Whitesell, L., Kelly, T. E., Saulsbury, F. T., Chance, P. F., and Ochs, H. D. (2001) The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3, *Nat Genet 27*, 20-21.
- 21. Chambers, C. A., Kuhns, M. S., Egen, J. G., and Allison, J. P. (2001) CTLA-4mediated inhibition in regulation of T cell responses: mechanisms and manipulation in tumor immunotherapy, *Annu Rev Immunol 19*, 565-594.
- 22. Wing, K., Onishi, Y., Prieto-Martin, P., Yamaguchi, T., Miyara, M., Fehervari, Z., Nomura, T., and Sakaguchi, S. (2008) CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function, *Science 322*, 271-275.
- 23. Sakaguchi, S., and Powrie, F. (2007) Emerging challenges in regulatory T cell function and biology, *Science 317*, 627-629.
- 24. Nakamura, K., Kitani, A., and Strober, W. (2001) Cell contact-dependent immunosuppression by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells is mediated by cell surface-bound transforming growth factor beta, *J Exp Med 194*, 629-644.
- 25. Asseman, C., Mauze, S., Leach, M. W., Coffman, R. L., and Powrie, F. (1999) An essential role for interleukin 10 in the function of regulatory T cells that inhibit intestinal inflammation, *J Exp Med 190*, 995-1004.
- 26. Collison, L. W., Workman, C. J., Kuo, T. T., Boyd, K., Wang, Y., Vignali, K. M., Cross, R., Sehy, D., Blumberg, R. S., and Vignali, D. A. (2007) The inhibitory cytokine IL-35 contributes to regulatory T-cell function, *Nature* 450, 566-569.
- 27. Gondek, D. C., Lu, L. F., Quezada, S. A., Sakaguchi, S., and Noelle, R. J. (2005) Cutting edge: contact-mediated suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells involves a granzyme B-dependent, perforin-independent mechanism, *J Immunol 174*, 1783-1786.
- 28. Cao, X., Cai, S. F., Fehniger, T. A., Song, J., Collins, L. I., Piwnica-Worms, D. R., and Ley, T. J. (2007) Granzyme B and perform are important for regulatory T cell-mediated suppression of tumor clearance, *Immunity* 27, 635-646.
- Bopp, T., Becker, C., Klein, M., Klein-Hessling, S., Palmetshofer, A., Serfling, E., Heib, V., Becker, M., Kubach, J., Schmitt, S., Stoll, S., Schild, H., Staege, M. S., Stassen, M., Jonuleit, H., and Schmitt, E. (2007) Cyclic adenosine monophosphate is a key component of regulatory T cell-mediated suppression, J Exp Med 204, 1303-1310.
- Kobie, J. J., Shah, P. R., Yang, L., Rebhahn, J. A., Fowell, D. J., and Mosmann, T. R. (2006) T regulatory and primed uncommitted CD4 T cells express CD73, which suppresses effector CD4 T cells by converting 5'-adenosine monophosphate to adenosine, *J Immunol* 177, 6780-6786.
- 31. Tadokoro, C. E., Shakhar, G., Shen, S., Ding, Y., Lino, A. C., Maraver, A., Lafaille, J. J., and Dustin, M. L. (2006) Regulatory T cells inhibit stable contacts between CD4+ T cells and dendritic cells in vivo, *J Exp Med 203*, 505-511.
- Fallarino, F., Grohmann, U., Hwang, K. W., Orabona, C., Vacca, C., Bianchi, R., Belladonna, M. L., Fioretti, M. C., Alegre, M. L., and Puccetti, P. (2003) Modulation of tryptophan catabolism by regulatory T cells, *Nat Immunol 4*, 1206-1212.
- 33. Moriarty-Craige, S. E., and Jones, D. P. (2004) Extracellular thiols and thiol/disulfide redox in metabolism, *Annu Rev Nutr* 24, 481-509.
- 34. Kemp, M., Go, Y. M., and Jones, D. P. (2008) Nonequilibrium thermodynamics of thiol/disulfide redox systems: a perspective on redox systems biology, *Free Radic Biol Med* 44, 921-937.
- 35. Meister, A., and Anderson, M. E. (1983) Glutathione, *Annu Rev Biochem* 52, 711-760.

- 36. Karp, D. R., Shimooku, K., and Lipsky, P. E. (2001) Expression of gammaglutamyl transpeptidase protects ramos B cells from oxidation-induced cell death, *J Biol Chem* 276, 3798-3804.
- 37. Ghezzi, P., Bonetto, V., and Fratelli, M. (2005) Thiol-disulfide balance: from the concept of oxidative stress to that of redox regulation, *Antioxid Redox Signal 7*, 964-972.
- 38. Jones, D. P. (2008) Radical-free biology of oxidative stress, *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 295*, C849-868.
- 39. Jordan, P. A., and Gibbins, J. M. (2006) Extracellular disulfide exchange and the regulation of cellular function, *Antioxid Redox Signal 8*, 312-324.
- 40. Hynes, R. O., and Destree, A. (1977) Extensive disulfide bonding at the mammalian cell surface, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 74, 2855-2859.
- 41. Ali, I. U., and Hynes, R. O. (1978) Role of disulfide bonds in the attachment and function of large, external, transformation-sensitive glycoprotein at the cell surface, *Biochim Biophys Acta 510*, 140-150.
- 42. Lawrence, D. A., Song, R., and Weber, P. (1996) Surface thiols of human lymphocytes and their changes after in vitro and in vivo activation, *J Leukoc Biol* 60, 611-618.
- 43. Matthias, L. J., Yam, P. T., Jiang, X. M., Vandegraaff, N., Li, P., Poumbourios, P., Donoghue, N., and Hogg, P. J. (2002) Disulfide exchange in domain 2 of CD4 is required for entry of HIV-1, *Nat Immunol 3*, 727-732.
- 44. O'Connell, P. J., Wang, X., Leon-Ponte, M., Griffiths, C., Pingle, S. C., and Ahern, G. P. (2006) A novel form of immune signaling revealed by transmission of the inflammatory mediator serotonin between dendritic cells and T cells, *Blood 107*, 1010-1017.
- Pacheco, R., Oliva, H., Martinez-Navio, J. M., Climent, N., Ciruela, F., Gatell, J. M., Gallart, T., Mallol, J., Lluis, C., and Franco, R. (2006) Glutamate released by dendritic cells as a novel modulator of T cell activation, *J Immunol 177*, 6695-6704.
- 46. Yan, Z., Garg, S. K., Kipnis, J., and Banerjee, R. (2009) Extracellular redox modulation by regulatory T cells, *Nat Chem Biol* 5, 721-723.
- 47. Castellani, P., Angelini, G., Delfino, L., Matucci, A., and Rubartelli, A. (2008) The thiol redox state of lymphoid organs is modified by immunization: role of different immune cell populations, *Eur J Immunol 38*, 2419-2425.

- 48. Gelderman, K. A., Hultqvist, M., Holmberg, J., Olofsson, P., and Holmdahl, R. (2006) T cell surface redox levels determine T cell reactivity and arthritis susceptibility, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103*, 12831-12836.
- 49. Droge, W., Eck, H. P., Gmunder, H., and Mihm, S. (1991) Modulation of lymphocyte functions and immune responses by cysteine and cysteine derivatives, *Am J Med 91*, 140S-144S.
- 50. Ishii, T., Sugita, Y., and Bannai, S. (1987) Regulation of glutathione levels in mouse spleen lymphocytes by transport of cysteine, *J Cell Physiol 133*, 330-336.
- 51. Mihm, S., Galter, D., and Droge, W. (1995) Modulation of transcription factor NF kappa B activity by intracellular glutathione levels and by variations of the extracellular cysteine supply, *FASEB J 9*, 246-252.
- 52. Nakamura, H., Masutani, H., and Yodoi, J. (2006) Extracellular thioredoxin and thioredoxin-binding protein 2 in control of cancer, *Semin Cancer Biol 16*, 444-451.
- 53. Schwertassek, U., Balmer, Y., Gutscher, M., Weingarten, L., Preuss, M., Engelhard, J., Winkler, M., and Dick, T. P. (2007) Selective redox regulation of cytokine receptor signaling by extracellular thioredoxin-1, *EMBO J 26*, 3086-3097.
- 54. Arner, E. S., and Holmgren, A. (2000) Physiological functions of thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase, *Eur J Biochem* 267, 6102-6109.
- 55. Pani, G., Colavitti, R., Borrello, S., and Galeotti, T. (2000) Redox regulation of lymphocyte signaling, *IUBMB Life 49*, 381-389.
- Los, M., Schenk, H., Hexel, K., Baeuerle, P. A., Droge, W., and Schulze-Osthoff, K. (1995) IL-2 gene expression and NF-kappa B activation through CD28 requires reactive oxygen production by 5-lipoxygenase, *EMBO J 14*, 3731-3740.
- 57. Thoren, F. B., Betten, A., Romero, A. I., and Hellstrand, K. (2007) Cutting edge: Antioxidative properties of myeloid dendritic cells: protection of T cells and NK cells from oxygen radical-induced inactivation and apoptosis, *J Immunol 179*, 21-25.
- 58. Secrist, J. P., Burns, L. A., Karnitz, L., Koretzky, G. A., and Abraham, R. T. (1993) Stimulatory effects of the protein tyrosine phosphatase inhibitor, pervanadate, on T-cell activation events, *J Biol Chem 268*, 5886-5893.

- 59. Yang, H., Magilnick, N., Lee, C., Kalmaz, D., Ou, X., Chan, J. Y., and Lu, S. C. (2005) Nrf1 and Nrf2 regulate rat glutamate-cysteine ligase catalytic subunit transcription indirectly via NF-kappaB and AP-1, *Mol Cell Biol 25*, 5933-5946.
- 60. Suthanthiran, M., Anderson, M. E., Sharma, V. K., and Meister, A. (1990) Glutathione regulates activation-dependent DNA synthesis in highly purified normal human T lymphocytes stimulated via the CD2 and CD3 antigens, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87*, 3343-3347.
- 61. Messina, J. P., and Lawrence, D. A. (1989) Cell cycle progression of glutathionedepleted human peripheral blood mononuclear cells is inhibited at S phase, *J Immunol 143*, 1974-1981.
- 62. Thelander, L., and Reichard, P. (1979) Reduction of ribonucleotides, *Annu Rev Biochem* 48, 133-158.
- 63. Borras, C., Esteve, J. M., Vina, J. R., Sastre, J., Vina, J., and Pallardo, F. V. (2004) Glutathione regulates telomerase activity in 3T3 fibroblasts, *J Biol Chem 279*, 34332-34335.
- 64. Schulze-Osthoff, K., Los, M., and Baeuerle, P. A. (1995) Redox signalling by transcription factors NF-kappa B and AP-1 in lymphocytes, *Biochem Pharmacol* 50, 735-741.
- 65. Markovic, J., Borras, C., Ortega, A., Sastre, J., Vina, J., and Pallardo, F. V. (2007) Glutathione is recruited into the nucleus in early phases of cell proliferation, *J Biol Chem* 282, 20416-20424.
- 66. Menon, S. G., and Goswami, P. C. (2007) A redox cycle within the cell cycle: ring in the old with the new, *Oncogene 26*, 1101-1109.
- Voehringer, D. W., McConkey, D. J., McDonnell, T. J., Brisbay, S., and Meyn, R. E. (1998) Bcl-2 expression causes redistribution of glutathione to the nucleus, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95*, 2956-2960.
- 68. Staal, F. J., Anderson, M. T., Staal, G. E., Herzenberg, L. A., and Gitler, C. (1994) Redox regulation of signal transduction: tyrosine phosphorylation and calcium influx, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91*, 3619-3622.
- Gringhuis, S. I., Papendrecht-van der Voort, E. A., Leow, A., Nivine Levarht, E. W., Breedveld, F. C., and Verweij, C. L. (2002) Effect of redox balance alterations on cellular localization of LAT and downstream T-cell receptor signaling pathways, *Mol Cell Biol 22*, 400-411.
- 70. Hasan, A. A., Ghaemmaghami, A. M., Fairclough, L., Robins, A., Sewell, H. F., and Shakib, F. (2009) Allergen-driven suppression of thiol production by human

dendritic cells and the effect of thiols on T cell function, *Immunobiology 214*, 2-16.

- 71. Peterson, J. D., Herzenberg, L. A., Vasquez, K., and Waltenbaugh, C. (1998) Glutathione levels in antigen-presenting cells modulate Th1 versus Th2 response patterns, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95*, 3071-3076.
- 72. Carta, S., Castellani, P., Delfino, L., Tassi, S., Vene, R., and Rubartelli, A. (2009) DAMPs and inflammatory processes: the role of redox in the different outcomes, *J Leukoc Biol 86*, 549-555.
- Matsue, H., Edelbaum, D., Shalhevet, D., Mizumoto, N., Yang, C., Mummert, M. E., Oeda, J., Masayasu, H., and Takashima, A. (2003) Generation and function of reactive oxygen species in dendritic cells during antigen presentation, *J Immunol 171*, 3010-3018.
- 74. Masciarelli, S., and Sitia, R. (2008) Building and operating an antibody factory: redox control during B to plasma cell terminal differentiation, *Biochim Biophys Acta 1783*, 578-588.
- 75. Tse, H. M., Milton, M. J., Schreiner, S., Profozich, J. L., Trucco, M., and Piganelli, J. D. (2007) Disruption of innate-mediated proinflammatory cytokine and reactive oxygen species third signal leads to antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness, *J Immunol 178*, 908-917.
- 76. Tse, H. M., Milton, M. J., and Piganelli, J. D. (2004) Mechanistic analysis of the immunomodulatory effects of a catalytic antioxidant on antigen-presenting cells: implication for their use in targeting oxidation-reduction reactions in innate immunity, *Free Radic Biol Med 36*, 233-247.
- 77. Sklavos, M. M., Tse, H. M., and Piganelli, J. D. (2008) Redox modulation inhibits CD8 T cell effector function, *Free Radic Biol Med* 45, 1477-1486.
- 78. Gout, P. W., Simms, C. R., and Robertson, M. C. (2003) In vitro studies on the lymphoma growth-inhibitory activity of sulfasalazine, *Anticancer Drugs 14*, 21-29.
- Banjac, A., Perisic, T., Sato, H., Seiler, A., Bannai, S., Weiss, N., Kolle, P., Tschoep, K., Issels, R. D., Daniel, P. T., Conrad, M., and Bornkamm, G. W. (2008) The cystine/cysteine cycle: a redox cycle regulating susceptibility versus resistance to cell death, *Oncogene 27*, 1618-1628.
- 80. Herzenberg, L. A., De Rosa, S. C., Dubs, J. G., Roederer, M., Anderson, M. T., Ela, S. W., and Deresinski, S. C. (1997) Glutathione deficiency is associated with impaired survival in HIV disease, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94*, 1967-1972.

- 81. Edinger, A. L., and Thompson, C. B. (2002) Antigen-presenting cells control T cell proliferation by regulating amino acid availability, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99*, 1107-1109.
- 82. Becker, C., Stoll, S., Bopp, T., Schmitt, E., and Jonuleit, H. (2006) Regulatory T cells: present facts and future hopes, *Med Microbiol Immunol 195*, 113-124.

# Chapter 2

## **Extracellular Redox Modulation by Regulatory T Cells**

# 2.1 Abstract

We demonstrate that the mechanism of redox remodeling during mouse T cell activation involves secretion of glutathione by dendritic cells and its subsequent cleavage to cysteine. Extracellular cysteine accumulation results in a lower redox potential, which is conducive to proliferation, and changes the net redox status of exofacial protein domains. Regulatory T cells inhibit this redox metabolite-signaling pathway, which represents a previously unrecognized mechanism for immunosuppression of effector T cells.

### **2.2 Introduction**

T cell activation and proliferation require a reducing microenvironment in the immune synapse that is provided by professional antigen presenting cells, especially dendritic cells (DCs) (1). The mechanisms underlying extracellular redox remodeling by DCs and redox communication during activation of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> effector T cells (Teff) remain unclear but results in accumulation of extracellular cysteine ( $Cy_{ex}$ ) (1). The proliferative response of activated Teff cells requires glutathione (GSH), an abundant intracellular antioxidant (2). The synthesis of GSH is limited by the availability of Cys and Teff cells are inefficient at transporting cystine (3), the predominant form of this amino acid in the extracellular milieu, thus creating a metabolic dependence on DCs. Naturally occurring CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells (Treg), which constitute <10% of total CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells maintain peripheral tolerance by suppressing autoimmune T cells (4, 5). The mechanism of suppression by Treg cells is complex and is incompletely understood (5, 6). In this study, we have tested the hypothesis that inhibition by Treg cells of DC-induced extracellular redox remodeling is a component of the Treg immunosuppressive mechanism. We demonstrate that the increase in [Cys]ex upon coculture of DCs with naïve  $CD4^+CD25^-T$  cells (Tn) results from the system  $x_c^-$ -dependent import of cystine, its conversion to glutathione, which is subsequently exported and degraded by the ectoenzyme,  $\gamma$ -glutamyltranspeptidase (GGT) and a membrane bound dipeptidase, to furnish Cys. Suppression of DC-dependent T cell proliferation by Treg cells is correlated with a significant diminution in [Cys]ex and is abrogated by addition of exogenous Cys. The decrease in the extracellular redox potential during DC-T cell interaction and T cell activation is associated with an increase in the levels of exofacial

surface thiols in both DCs and T cells, which is diminished in the presence of Treg cells. This study elucidates the pathway of thiol release by DCs in response to T cell stimulation, demonstrates that Treg cells interfere with the process of extracellular redox remodeling and identifies a novel mechanism for immunomodulation.

### 2.3 Results and Discussion

Co-cultivation of Tn cells with immature DCs results in a time- and ratiodependent increase in  $[Cys]_{ex}$  (Fig. 2.1a), which is paralleled by extracellular cystine consumption (Fig. 2.2) as previously seen during antigen-specific activation of T cells (*1*). In subsequent studies, a 1:4 ratio of DC:T cells was used. When DC and T cells from syngenic and allogenic mice were employed, a substantial difference in Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation was not observed (data not shown). While intracellular redox homeostasis is important for the operation of cellular processes (*7*), the Cys/cystine redox couple is a quantitatively significant determinant of the extracellular redox potential, which plays a critical regulatory role in cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis (*8*, *9*). It is estimated to be ~-80 mV for DC cultures (Fig. 2.1b), which is expected to promote growth arrest/differentiation (*8*, *10*). Co-culture of DCs with Tn cells decreased the redox potential to a more reducing value (-110 mV), consistent with remodeling of the extracellular potential to a value conducive to cellular proliferation (*8*).

Sustained contact between DCs and T cells appears to be required for  $[Cys]_{ex}$  accumulation and was not observed in a transwell culture system (Fig. 2.3) and further accumulation of Cys was not observed following removal of T cells after co-culture with DCs for 24 h (not shown). DC-T cell contact may result in the activation of various signal

transduction pathways in DCs, which, in turn, could regulate  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation. Among them, the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, which is activated in mature DCs, plays an essential role in effective antigen presentation and T cell activation (*11, 12*). To assess whether this signaling pathway plays a role in extracellular redox remodeling, DCs were pretreated with inhibitors of NF- $\kappa$ B activation, pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate (PDTC) or BAY 11-7082, for 2 h, and then co-cultured with Tn cells. [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> was significantly diminished by these inhibitors (Fig 2.1c). Lipopolysaccharides (LPS), which induces DC maturation via the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway (*12*), also results in Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation, which was abrogated by PDTC (Fig. 2.1c), thus supporting a role for the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway in stimulating Cys<sub>ex</sub> release by DCs.

To distinguish between the alternative pathways that might contribute to  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation (Fig. 2.1d), various approaches were employed. First, the contribution, if any, of the transsulfuration pathway to  $Cys_{ex}$  was assessed. However, radiolabel incorporation from [<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine into total  $Cys_{ex}$  and  $GSH_{in}$  was not enhanced (Table 2.1) and inhibition of the transsulfuration pathway with the suicide inactivator, propargylglycine (PPG), failed to inhibit  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation (Fig. 2.4) during DC-Tn cell co-culture. Furthermore, co-cultivation of cells in medium lacking cystine resulted in failure of [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> accumulation (data not shown), suggesting that extracellular cystine is the major source of  $Cys_{ex}$ . Inhibition of GSH synthesis with butathionine sulfoximine (BSO) and inhibition of GSH export with MK-571 significantly suppressed [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> accumulation (Fig. 2.4), indicating a role for GSH<sub>in</sub> synthesis and transport by DCs for provision of Cys<sub>ex</sub> needed for T cell function.

To examine the contribution of cystine transporters and GSH metabolism to Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation, we inhibited the  $x_c^-$  and  $X_{AG}$  cystine transporters and GGT with sulfasalazine, L-aspartic acid  $\beta$ -hydroxamate (A $\beta$ H) and acivicin respectively (Fig. 2.1d). Inhibition of the  $x_c^-$  but not the X<sub>AG</sub> transporter suppressed Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation by ~25% (Fig. 2.1e), diminished incorporation of [<sup>14</sup>C]-cystine into GSH in DCs by ~20% and decreased the [GSH]<sub>in</sub> by ~25% (Fig. 2.5). The expression of xCT, the catalytic subunit of the  $x_c^-$  transporter (*13*), was induced in DCs co-cultured with T cells (Fig. 2.1f), indicating a role for this high affinity cystine/glutamate antiporter in DC-dependent redox remodeling. Inhibition of GGT with acivicin decreased [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> by >35% (Fig. 2.1e), consistent with the model that secreted GSH is a source of [Cys]<sub>ex</sub>. When acivicin and sulfasalazine were co-administered, the [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> was reduced by ~70%.

Extracellular thioredoxin (Trx<sub>ex</sub>), which accumulates during DC-T cell co-culture, has been proposed to function in cystine reduction under these conditions (1). However, the source of electrons for the operation of this catalytic cycle is not known. Secreted Trx was also observed during DC-T cell co-culture in our study, but not when either cell type was cultured alone (Fig. 2.6). If  $Trx_{ex}$  does indeed play a role in increasing [Cys]<sub>ex</sub>, then inhibition of cystine import should not affect  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation. However, [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> decreased in sulfasalazine-treated cultures (Fig. 2.1e) although  $Trx_{ex}$  levels were unchanged (Fig. 2.6). Together with the observation that secreted thioredoxin reductase, which reduces Trx, is not detected when DCs and T cells are co-cultured (not shown), our data are consistent with an alternative function of  $Trx_{ex}$  in T cell activation as suggested recently (14). An increase in  $[GSH]_{in}$  is correlated with the onset of T cell proliferation and Cys is the limiting reagent for GSH synthesis (*3, 15*). Increased  $[Cys]_{ex}$  during co-culture of DC and T cells is associated with increased  $[GSH]_{in}$  in T cells (Fig. 2.1g), which was significantly inhibited by sulfasalazine and acivicin respectively.

Next, we investigated whether Treg cells can perturb Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation induced by DC-Tn cell interaction. In contrast to Tn cells, co-culture of Treg cells with DCs did not affect the [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> (Fig. 2.7). However, co-culture of DCs, Tn and Treg cells resulted in significantly decreased [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> compared to co-cultures of DC and Tn cells, and was sensitive to the ratio of DC:Tn:Treg cells (Fig. 2.8a). LPS stimulation of DCs increased the [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> and was suppressed by Treg cells (Fig 2.8b). Enhanced Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation was observed during co-culture of LPS-activated DCs and Tn cells, which was inhibited by Treg cells (Fig 2.9). Furthermore, [GSH]<sub>in</sub> in Teff cells was significantly decreased under these conditions (Fig. 2.8c, d), indicating that Treg cells perturb intracellular redox homeostasis in Teff cells by interfering with extracellular redox remodeling.

Since the outcome of a successful activation event is T cell proliferation, a process that is suppressed by Treg cells, we assessed the effect of Treg cells on T cell proliferation in the presence and absence of exogenous Cys. Lower  $[Cys]_{ex}$  was correlated with inhibition of T cell proliferation as measured by  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation (Fig. 2.8e) or a mitochondrial activity (Fig. 2.10) assay. This inhibition was alleviated by provision of Cys<sub>ex</sub> at concentrations seen under DC-T cell co-culture conditions (Fig. 2.8c and Fig. 2.10). Exogenous Cys did not significantly change the proliferation of T cells and as expected, did not induce Treg proliferation (Fig. 2.11).

The extracellular redox environment influences the equilibrium between oxidized and reduced thiols on exofacial membrane proteins (16) and a 30 mV potential change should lead to a 10-fold change in the ratio of reduced:oxidized Cys in proteins. The surface thiol status of T cells is responsive to reactive oxygen species levels that in turn, influences T cell functions and the susceptibility at the organismal level, to autoimmune diseases and to HIV infection (17-19). Hence, we investigated changes in the exofacial thiol status during T cell activation using Alexa-maleimide for thiol group labeling coupled with confocal microscopy and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis (Figs. 2.8f-j). Co-culture conditions enhanced cell surface labeling on DCs and T cells by ~4 and 8-fold respectively (Fig. 2.8f-h). Hence, redox remodeling of the extracellular compartment during T cell activation affects the redox status of membrane proteins on both cell types, which might be important for signaling in the immune synapse and/or for supporting downstream effector functions. In comparison to Tn cells, co-culture of DCs with Treg cells induced a minor increase in surface thiol labeling on DCs and Treg cells (Fig. 2.12). Addition of Treg cells to DC-Tn co-cultures suppressed cell surface thiol labeling on T cells and to a lesser extent, on DCs (Fig. 2.8i,j). Similarly, Treg cells decreased surface thiol labeling in LPS-stimulated DCs. Hence, interference by Treg cells in redox remodeling of the extracellular microenvironment appears to have a more pronounced effect on T cells compared to DCs.

The ability of Treg cells to modulate metabolite signaling between DC and T cells has precedence. Thus, Treg cells induce indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase in DCs, which catalyzes the oxidative catabolism of tryptophan (20). Furthermore, TGF- $\beta$ , an inhibitory cytokine involved in Treg-mediated suppression (21), is activated by oxidation and inactivated by free thiols (22), demonstrating the need for the appropriate redox microenvironment for its function.

In summary, we have elucidated the mechanism of extracellular redox remodeling by DCs during T cell activation, which is needed for their subsequent proliferation, and demonstrated that Treg cells interfere with this process. T cells are inefficient at transporting cystine and depend on antigen presenting cells for the provision of Cys (*3*, *23*), the least abundant of all amino acids in circulation (*24*). However, Cys release by DCs clearly has other consequences including shifting the ambient redox poise to be more reducing, promoting cell proliferation and changing the redox status of many cellsurface proteins, which await identification. Many exofacial membrane protein domains and extracellular proteins are Cys-rich and their oxidation state and function are influenced by the redox potential of the extracellular compartment (*16*, *25*). Subtle changes in the extracellular redox status may cause profound functional changes in redox sensitive proteins, shaping the outcome of DC-T cell interaction. The ability of Treg cells to intervene in this process represents a previously unrecognized mechanism for immunosuppression of autoreactive T cells.

## 2.4 Materials and Methods

### 2.4.1 Mice

BALB/c mice (7-10 weeks) were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). The mice were maintained in pathogen-free animal facilities at the University of Michigan. All procedures for animal handling were performed in accordance with the protocols approved by the University of Michigan.

#### 2.4.2 Cell purification and culture

DCs were isolated from bone marrow by a previously described method (*26*), with some modifications. Briefly, bone marrow cells from the BALB/c mice were depleted of red blood cells and plated at 2 x  $10^6$  cells/ml for 7 days in recombinant murine granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF, 20 ng/ml, BD Biosciences) and recombinant murine interleukin 4 (IL-4, 20 ng/ml, BD Biosciences) in DMEM supplemented with 100 µg/ml penicillin and streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol (2-ME), 1 mM pyruvate, 1:100 nonessential amino acids, and 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum. The culture medium was changed and the floating cells were discarded every two days.

Tn (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>) and Treg (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>) cells were purified from mouse lymph nodes by magnetic-activated cell sorting using an AutoMACS sorter (Miltenyi Biotec) as described (27). Flow cytometry analysis of the purity of Treg cells and Teff cells shows > 90% CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> with > 85% expressing Foxp3<sup>+</sup> and > 95% CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>, respectively (Fig. 2.13). For activated Teff cells, purified cell populations were cultured in 24-well plates (1 ml) supplemented with 0.5  $\mu$ g/ml anti-CD3 and irradiated splenocyte feeders (1:3).

DCs (5 x  $10^5$  /well) were co-cultured in 24 well plates with or without naïve Teff cells at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:4 ratio for 48 h at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator in RPMI medium supplemented with 100 µg/ml penicillin and streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol and 2.5% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum in the presence of anti-CD3 antibody (1 µg/ml). Sulfasalazine (SAS, 500µM), acivicin (ACV, 250 µM), L-Aspartic acid β-hydroxamate (AβH, 400 µM), propargylglycine (PPG, 2.5 mM) and

butathionine sulfoximine (BSO, 200  $\mu$ M) were added to the co-culture to inhibit the x<sub>c</sub><sup>-</sup> cystine transporter,  $\gamma$ -glutamyltranspeptidase (GGT), X<sub>AG</sub> cystine transporter,  $\gamma$ cystathionase and  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteinyl synthetase, respectively. For the inhibition of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, DCs were pretreated with 200  $\mu$ M pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate (PDTC) or 10  $\mu$ M BAY 11-7082 for 2h and then co-cultured with naïve Teff cells in fresh medium. In transwell experiments, DCs were co-cultured either directly with naïve Teff cells placed in transwell chambers (Millicell, 0.4  $\mu$ m pore size; Millipore, Bedford, MA). For the Treg experiments, DCs were co-cultured respectively with Treg cells (1:1), naïve Teff cells (1:4) and naïve Teff and Treg cells together (1:4:1, 1:4:2), or DCs were treated with lipolysaccharide (LPS, 100 ng/ml) in the absence and presence of Treg cells for 48h. For activated Teff cells, co-cultures were performed in 24 well plates at a DC: Teff cell ratio of 1:4 in DMEM medium supplemented with 100  $\mu$ g/ml penicillin and streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50  $\mu$ M 2-mercaptoethanol, 1 mM pyruvate and 1:100 nonessential amino acids.

# 2.4.3 Measurement of thiols and metabolic labeling

Extracellular cystine and Cys concentration was measured using the HPLC method as described (28). To measure the extracellular total GSH and homocysteine by mass spectrometry, culture supernatants were reduced by 10 mM dithiothreitol for 15 min followed by alkylation with 5 mM N-ethylmaleimide (NEM) for 30 min at room temperature. GSH, homocysteine and Cys were used as external standards and 50  $\mu$ M NEM-derivatized 3-D<sub>2</sub>-Cys was used as an internal standard. The samples and standards were analyzed by multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mass spectrometry using the 4000 Q TRAP® LC/MS/MS System from Applied Biosciences. Intracellular GSH concentration and [ $^{35}$ S]-methionine incorporation into GSH was measured as described previously (29). Results were normalized to the protein concentration. Alternatively, L-[ $^{14}$ C]-cystine was employed to follow its contribution to the intracellular GSH. For this, 5 µl/ml L-[ $^{14}$ C]-cystine (0.02 mCi/ml, PerkinElmer) was added to the culture medium to obtain a final activity of 0.1 µCi/ml and the samples were processed as described for radiolabeled methionine.

# 2.4.4 Western blot analysis

Supernatants from DCs cultured with activated T cells in the presence and absence of sulfasalazine were analyzed by Western blot to detect the extracellular thioredoxin as described (*1*). Rabbit polyclonal antibody against human thioredoxin (courtesy of Dr. Vadim Gladyshev, University of Nebraska) was employed for detection of thioredoxin.

To detect the xCT expression levels, DCs were cultured with and without naïve Teff cells for 36h and harvested in lysis buffer. Aliquots of cell lysates (20 µg) were boiled and loaded on to a 10% SDS polyacrylamide gel and electroblotted to a PVDF membrane. Expression of xCT was investigated by immunoblotting with the polyclonal xCT antibody (1:2000) (Abcam) and the secondary horseradish peroxidase-linked anti-rabbit IgG antibody (1:2500). Blots were developed by using the chemiluminescent horseradish peroxidase system as per the vendor's protocol (Sigma).

## 2.4.5 T cell proliferation assay

Naïve Teff cells (2 x  $10^5$ ) were cultured with varying numbers of Treg cells for 72 h in flat 96-well plates with APCs (either DCs (5 x  $10^4$ ) or irradiated splenocytes (6 x  $10^5$ )) and 1 µg/ml anti-CD3. Cys (50 µM and 100 µM final concentration) was added every 24 h during the culture. T cell proliferation was assayed by measuring incorporation of [<sup>3</sup>H]

thymidine (1  $\mu$ Ci/ml, PerkinElmer) during the last 6 h of culture. Alternatively, proliferation was measured by using the "CellTiter 96<sup>®</sup> AQ<sub>ueous</sub> One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay" kit (Promega) according to the manufacture's instructions.

#### 2.4.6 Flow cytometry and confocal microscopy

Naïve Teff cells cultured with or without DCs for 1h and 48h were washed with icecold media. Alexa-maleimide (ALM)-488 (Invitrogen) was added to the cell suspension at a final concentration of 5  $\mu$ M and incubated for15 min on ice. Cells were washed three times with cold PBS, fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde and then analyzed by flow cytometry using the FACSCalibur instrument (BD phamingen). Data were analyzed using the Flowjo software (Treestar). DCs cultured with or without naïve T cells for 1h and 48h were washed with ice-cold media and then stained with 5  $\mu$ M ALM-488 for 15 min on ice. Cells were washed three times with cold PBS and detached by incubating with accutase (Phoenix flow systems) for 10 min. After centrifugation, DCs were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde and analyzed by flow cytometry. For the Treg experiments, DCs were co-cultured respectively with naïve Teff cells (1:4) and naïve Teff and Treg cells together (1:4:2), or DCs were treated with LPS (100 ng/ml) in the absence and presence of Treg cells for 36h. Cell surface thiols on DCs and T cells were determined as described above.

For the confocal microscopy experiments, DCs were cultured with or without naïve Teff cells in 8-well chamber slides (Labtek) for 36h. Since naïve Teff cells can not survive for 36h, they can not be used as a control for activated Teff cells. We thus used activated Teff cells cultured with or without DCs for 16h to detect the cell surface thiol change on Teff cells. DCs and Teff cells were washed with ice-cold media and then stained with 5µM ALM-594 for 15 minutes on ice. Cells were washed three times with

cold PBS, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and then mounted. The samples were examined using an Olympus FV500 confocal microscope and photographed.



Figure 2.1 Mechanism of Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation. (a) DCs were co-cultured with Tn cells at a 1:1, 1:2 or 1:4 ratio for different durations, and the [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> was measured. (b) Changes in the extracellular Cys/cystine redox potential at 36 h. The extracellular Cys/cystine redox potential was calculated according to the Nernst equation:  $E_h = E_o +$ RT/2F ln ([cystine]/[Cys]<sup>2</sup>), using  $E_0$ =-250 mV (pH=7.4). (c) Effect of NF- $\kappa$ B pathway inhibitors on [Cys]<sub>ex</sub>. (d) Cys metabolism during DC-T cell interaction and the effects of inhibitors. Propargylglycine (PPG), butathionine sulfoximine (BSO), sulfasalzine (SAS), L-aspartic acid \beta-hydroxamate (ABH), acivicin (ACV) and MK-571 inhibit ycystathionase,  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteinyl synthetase, the  $x_c$  and the  $X_{AG}$  transporter,  $\gamma$ glutamyltranspeptidase, and the multidrug resistance protein 1 (MRP1) respectively. (e) Inhibition of [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> by various inhibitors. DCs were co-cultured for 36 h with Tn cells  $(1:4) \pm 400 \ \mu\text{M} \ \text{A\betaH}$ , or  $\pm 500 \ \mu\text{M} \ \text{SAS}$ , or  $\pm 250 \ \mu\text{M} \ \text{ACV}$  or  $\pm \ \text{SAS+ACV}$ .  $[Cys]_{ex}$  is expressed as a percent of the concentration in untreated DC-T cell co-culture medium. The data represent the mean  $\pm$  SD of at least 4 experiments with different batches of cells. (f) xCT expression in DCs cultured  $\pm$  Tn cells for 36 h. xCT migrates as 35 and 55 kDa bands. (g)  $[GSH]_{in}$  in Teffs cells co-cultured with DCs (1:4) for 16 h ± SAS or ACV. Representative data from one of three independent experiments are shown for a, b, c, f, g. (\*, p<0.05; \*\*, p<0.005; \*\*\*, p<0.0005; two tailed Student's t-test).



Figure 2.2 Extracellular cystine consumption during DC and Tn cell co-culture. DCs were co-cultured with Tn cells at a 1:1, 1:2 and 1:4 ratio for different durations, and the cystine concentration in the conditioned medium was determined. Data shown are the mean  $\pm$  SD and are representative of 3 independent experiments. Student's t-test revealed a significant consumption of cystine from the media by DCs, which was both DC:T cell ratio- and time-dependent. (\*, p<0.05; \*\*, p<0.005).



Figure 2.3 Effect of transwell culture on  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation. DCs were co-cultured with Tn cells (1:4) (black bar) or with Tn cells (1:4) placed in the upper chamber of a transwell (TW) system (grey bar) for 36 h. Representative data (mean  $\pm$  SD) from one of three independent experiments are shown. Student's t-test revealed a significant increase in Cys accumulation only when DCs were in direct contact with Tn cells. (\*, p<0.05).



Figure 2.4 Inhibition of GSH synthesis and GSH export but not the transsulfuration pathway suppresses Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation. DCs were co-cultured with Tn cells (1:4) for 36 h in the absence or presence of (a) 2.5 mM propargylglycine (PPG) or 200  $\mu$ M buthionine sulfoximine (BSO) or (b) 50  $\mu$ M MK-571. PPG, BSO, and MK-571 inhibit  $\gamma$ cystathionase,  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteinyl synthetase, and the multidrug resistance protein 1 respectively. Representative data (mean  $\pm$  SD) from one of two independent experiments are shown. Student's t-test revealed significant inhibition of DC-T cell-induced Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation in the presence of either BSO or MK-571 but not PPG. (\*, p<0.05; \*\*, p<0.005).



Figure 2.5 Inhibition of the x<sub>c</sub><sup>-</sup> transporter decreases [GSH]<sub>in</sub> and GSH radioactivity incorporation in DCs. DCs were co-cultured with Teff cells (pre-activated CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup> T cells) (1:4)  $\pm$  500  $\mu$ M sulfasalazine (SAS) for 16 h. L-[<sup>14</sup>C]-cystine was added to the culture medium to a final activity of 0.1  $\mu$ Ci/ml at the beginning of the experiment and its incorporation into GSH<sub>in</sub> and the [GSH]<sub>in</sub> in DCs were measured. Results are expressed as a percent of untreated co-culture control. Data are the mean  $\pm$  SD of two independent experiments. Student's t-test revealed significant inhibition of radioactivity incorporation and a decrease in [GSH]<sub>in</sub> in the presence of SAS. (\*, p<0.05).



Figure 2.6 Inhibition of  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation by SAS does not significantly affect Trx secretion. Medium from cell cultures treated  $\pm$  500  $\mu$ M SAS were examined by Western blot analysis for the presence of Trx. 1: Trx standard; 2: DC medium; 3: T cell medium; 4: DC-T co-culture medium; 5: DC culture medium + SAS; 6: DC-T co-culture medium + SAS; 7: T cell medium + SAS.



Figure 2.7 Co-culture of DCs with Tn cells, but not with Treg cells results in  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation. DCs were co-cultured with either Tn cells (1:4) or with Treg (1:4) cells in the presence of 1 µg/ml anti-CD3 antibody. (\*, p<0.05; ns, not significant).



Figure 2.8 Treg-mediated extracellular redox remodeling. (a) [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> during coculture of DCs with Tn cells (1:4) or with Tn+Treg cells (1:4:1 or 1:4:2). (b)  $[Cys]_{ex}$  in DC+LPS $\pm$ Treg (1:2). (c) Treg-mediated suppression of [GSH]<sub>in</sub> in Teffs measured by labeling with chloromethylfluorescein diacetate (CMFDA) and (d) quantitative analysis. Student's t-test revealed a significant reduction in DC+T cell- and DC+LPS-induced [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> (panels a, b, n=4) and GSH<sub>in</sub> labeling in T cells (panel d, n=2) in the presence of Treg cells. (e) Teff proliferation  $\pm$  Tregs and with the addition of Cys to the medium as measured by the ['H]-thymidine incorporation assay. Student's t-test revealed significant inhibition of proliferation of Teffs by Tregs, which was abrogated by addition of exogenous Cys (n=3). (f) Cell surface thiol levels on DCs and T cells as a function of coculture using Alexa-maleimide 488 (ALM-488) staining followed by FACS analysis. (g) Quantification of the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) data shown in panel f (n=4). (h) Confocal microscopy using Alexa-maleimide 594 staining shows an increase in cell surface thiol levels on DCs and T cells as a function of co-culture as compared to single culture. (i) Tregs suppress surface thiol levels on DCs, T cells and LPS-activated DCs. (j) Quantitative analysis of FACS data shown in panel i (n = 3). Data represent the mean  $\pm$ SD of independent experiments (n as indicated in each section). (\*, p<0.05; \*\*, p<0.005; two tailed Student's t-test).



Figure 2.9 Treg cells suppress  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation induced during co-culture of LPS-activated DCs and Tn cells. LPS-stimulated DCs were co-cultured with Tn cells in the absence or presence of Treg cells (1:4:2). Representative data (mean  $\pm$  SD) from one of two independent experiments are shown. Student's t-test revealed significant inhibition of Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation by Treg cells. (\*, p<0.05; \*\*, p<0.005).



Figure 2.10 Exogenous Cys abrogates Treg-mediated suppression of T cell proliferation. T cell proliferation in the absence and presence of Treg cells and with the addition of Cys to the medium was measured by the "CellTiter 96<sup>®</sup> AQ<sub>ueous</sub> One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay". Data represent the mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3). Statistical analysis was performed using Student's t-test (\*, p<0.05; \*\*, p<0.005).



Figure 2.11 Exogenous Cys does not change Teff and Treg cell proliferation. DCs were co-cultured with either Tn or with Treg in the presence of different concentrations of exogenous Cys. Teff and Treg cell proliferation was measured by the  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation assay. Data represent the mean  $\pm$  SD of two independent experiments performed in duplicates.



**Figure 2.12 Treg cells cause relatively small changes in cell surface thiols on DCs (left panel, red line) and on T cells (right panel, red line).** DCs were co-cultured with Tn or Treg cells at a 1:2 ratio for 36 h. Cell surface thiol levels on DCs and T cells were determined by FACS analysis. As a control, the effect of Tn cells on DCs cell surface thiols (blue line, left panel) is also shown. Results shown are representative of two independent experiments.



**Figure 2.13 Purity of Treg and Tn cells.** Tn cells and Treg cells were stained with anti-CD4-Alexa 647, anti-CD25-PE and anti-Foxp3-FITC and analyzed by flow cytometry. The numbers inside the boxes indicate percentage of  $CD4^+CD25^-$ ,  $CD4^+CD25^+$  and Foxp3<sup>+</sup> cells.

		DCs from DC-T
	DCs	co-culture
[GSH] <sub>in</sub> (µmol/g protein)	$112 \pm 12.1$	89.4 ± 22.1
GSH radioactivity (dpm/protein)	$53.4\pm9.2$	$40.7 \pm 11.3$
<sup>35</sup> S-incorporation into GSH <sup>a</sup>		
(dpm/µM)	$2.13\pm0.30$	$2.22\pm0.28$
$[tCys]_{ex}(\mu M)$	$198.3\pm8.9$	$149.5 \pm 40.3$
tCys radioactivity (dpm)	$198.5\pm20.5$	$142.0 \pm 25.5$
$^{35}$ S-incorporation into tCys (dpm/ $\mu$ M)	$1.00\pm0.06$	$1.04 \pm 0.10$

Table 2.1Incorporation of [35S]-Met into intracellular GSH and extracellular Cys.

<sup>*a*35</sup>S-incorporation in DCs was determined as the ratio of  $GSH_{in}$  (or  $tCys_{ex}$ ) radioactivity to  $[GSH]_{in}$  (or  $[tCys]_{ex}$ ) concentration at 16 h in DCs cultured alone or with activated Teff cells. Representative data from one of two independent experiments are shown.

# References

- 1. Angelini, G., Gardella, S., Ardy, M., Ciriolo, M. R., Filomeni, G., Di Trapani, G., Clarke, F., Sitia, R., and Rubartelli, A. (2002) Antigen-presenting dendritic cells provide the reducing extracellular microenvironment required for T lymphocyte activation, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99*, 1491-1496.
- 2. Suthanthiran, M., Anderson, M. E., Sharma, V. K., and Meister, A. (1990) Glutathione regulates activation-dependent DNA synthesis in highly purified normal human T lymphocytes stimulated via the CD2 and CD3 antigens, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87*, 3343-3347.
- 3. Ishii, T., Sugita, Y., and Bannai, S. (1987) Regulation of glutathione levels in mouse spleen lymphocytes by transport of cysteine, *J Cell Physiol 133*, 330-336.
- 4. Sakaguchi, S., Yamaguchi, T., Nomura, T., and Ono, M. (2008) Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance, *Cell 133*, 775-787.
- 5. Vignali, D. A., Collison, L. W., and Workman, C. J. (2008) How regulatory T cells work, *Nat Rev Immunol* 8, 523-532.
- 6. Tang, Q., and Bluestone, J. A. (2008) The Foxp3+ regulatory T cell: a jack of all trades, master of regulation, *Nat Immunol 9*, 239-244.
- 7. Nakamura, H., Nakamura, K., and Yodoi, J. (1997) Redox regulation of cellular activation, *Annu Rev Immunol 15*, 351-369.
- 8. Moriarty-Craige, S. E., and Jones, D. P. (2004) Extracellular thiols and thiol/disulfide redox in metabolism, *Annu Rev Nutr 24*, 481-509.
- Banjac, A., Perisic, T., Sato, H., Seiler, A., Bannai, S., Weiss, N., Kolle, P., Tschoep, K., Issels, R. D., Daniel, P. T., Conrad, M., and Bornkamm, G. W. (2008) The cystine/cysteine cycle: a redox cycle regulating susceptibility versus resistance to cell death, *Oncogene 27*, 1618-1628.
- 10. Jonas, C. R., Ziegler, T. R., Gu, L. H., and Jones, D. P. (2002) Extracellular thiol/disulfide redox state affects proliferation rate in a human colon carcinoma (Caco2) cell line, *Free Radic Biol Med* 33, 1499-1506.
- Yoshimura, S., Bondeson, J., Foxwell, B. M., Brennan, F. M., and Feldmann, M. (2001) Effective antigen presentation by dendritic cells is NF-kappaB dependent: coordinate regulation of MHC, co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines, *Int Immunol 13*, 675-683.
- 12. Li, Q., and Verma, I. M. (2002) NF-kappaB regulation in the immune system, *Nat Rev Immunol* 2, 725-734.

- 13. Shih, A. Y., Erb, H., Sun, X., Toda, S., Kalivas, P. W., and Murphy, T. H. (2006) Cystine/glutamate exchange modulates glutathione supply for neuroprotection from oxidative stress and cell proliferation, *J Neurosci 26*, 10514-10523.
- Schwertassek, U., Balmer, Y., Gutscher, M., Weingarten, L., Preuss, M., Engelhard, J., Winkler, M., and Dick, T. P. (2007) Selective redox regulation of cytokine receptor signaling by extracellular thioredoxin-1, *EMBO J 26*, 3086-3097.
- 15. Markovic, J., Borras, C., Ortega, A., Sastre, J., Vina, J., and Pallardo, F. V. (2007) Glutathione is recruited into the nucleus in early phases of cell proliferation, *J Biol Chem 282*, 20416-20424.
- 16. Sahaf, B., Heydari, K., and Herzenberg, L. A. (2005) The extracellular microenvironment plays a key role in regulating the redox status of cell surface proteins in HIV-infected subjects, *Arch Biochem Biophys* 434, 26-32.
- 17. Sahaf, B., Heydari, K., and Herzenberg, L. A. (2003) Lymphocyte surface thiol levels, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100*, 4001-4005.
- 18. Gelderman, K. A., Hultqvist, M., Holmberg, J., Olofsson, P., and Holmdahl, R. (2006) T cell surface redox levels determine T cell reactivity and arthritis susceptibility, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103*, 12831-12836.
- 19. Matthias, L. J., Yam, P. T., Jiang, X. M., Vandegraaff, N., Li, P., Poumbourios, P., Donoghue, N., and Hogg, P. J. (2002) Disulfide exchange in domain 2 of CD4 is required for entry of HIV-1, *Nat Immunol 3*, 727-732.
- Fallarino, F., Grohmann, U., Hwang, K. W., Orabona, C., Vacca, C., Bianchi, R., Belladonna, M. L., Fioretti, M. C., Alegre, M. L., and Puccetti, P. (2003) Modulation of tryptophan catabolism by regulatory T cells, *Nat Immunol 4*, 1206-1212.
- 21. Nakamura, K., Kitani, A., and Strober, W. (2001) Cell contact-dependent immunosuppression by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells is mediated by cell surface-bound transforming growth factor beta, *J Exp Med 194*, 629-644.
- 22. Blakytny, R., Erkell, L. J., and Brunner, G. (2006) Inactivation of active and latent transforming growth factor beta by free thiols: potential redox regulation of biological action, *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 38, 1363-1373.
- 23. Messina, J. P., and Lawrence, D. A. (1989) Cell cycle progression of glutathionedepleted human peripheral blood mononuclear cells is inhibited at S phase, *J Immunol 143*, 1974-1981.

- 24. Droge, W., Eck, H. P., Gmunder, H., and Mihm, S. (1991) Modulation of lymphocyte functions and immune responses by cysteine and cysteine derivatives, *Am J Med 91*, 140S-144S.
- 25. Ramirez, A., Ramadan, B., Ritzenthaler, J. D., Rivera, H. N., Jones, D. P., and Roman, J. (2007) Extracellular cysteine/cystine redox potential controls lung fibroblast proliferation and matrix expression through upregulation of transforming growth factor-beta, *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 293*, L972-981.
- 26. Lutz, M. B., Kukutsch, N., Ogilvie, A. L., Rossner, S., Koch, F., Romani, N., and Schuler, G. (1999) An advanced culture method for generating large quantities of highly pure dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow, *J Immunol Methods 223*, 77-92.
- 27. Kipnis, J., Avidan, H., Caspi, R. R., and Schwartz, M. (2004) Dual effect of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in neurodegeneration: a dialogue with microglia, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101 Suppl 2*, 14663-14669.
- 28. Garg, S. K., Banerjee, R., and Kipnis, J. (2008) Neuroprotective immunity: T cellderived glutamate endows astrocytes with a neuroprotective phenotype, *J Immunol 180*, 3866-3873.
- 29. Vitvitsky, V., Thomas, M., Ghorpade, A., Gendelman, H. E., and Banerjee, R. (2006) A functional transsulfuration pathway in the brain links to glutathione homeostasis, *J Biol Chem 281*, 35785-35793.
#### Chapter 3

# Regulatory T Cells Interfere with Glutathione Metabolism in Dendritic Cells and T Cells

# **3.1 Abstract**

Naturally occurring CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Tregs suppress proliferation of Teffs by mechanisms that are not well understood. We have previously demonstrated a novel mechanism of Treg suppression, i.e., interference with extracellular redox remodeling that occurs during activation of T cells by DCs. In this study, we demonstrate that Tregmediated redox perturbation is antigen-dependent but not antigen-specific, is cytotoxic Tlymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4)-dependent and requires cell-cell contact. Tregs decrease expression of  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine synthetase, the rate-limiting enzyme for GSH synthesis, leading to lower intracellular GSH synthesis in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated DCs. We have previously shown that DC-derived GSH is a major source of extracellular cysteine that accumulates during DC-dependent T cell activation. Additionally, Tregs might contribute to restricting extracellular cysteine accumulation by a competitive uptake mechanism; they partition cysteine more proficiently to the oxidation product, sulfate, while Teffs divert more of the cysteine pool towards protein and GSH synthesis. Tregs appear to block GSH redistribution from the nucleus to cytoplasm in Teffs, which is abrogated by the addition of exogenous cysteine. Together, these data provide novel insights into modulation of sulfur-based redox metabolism by Tregs leading to suppression of T cell activation and proliferation.

#### **3.2 Introduction**

A fundamental property of the immune system is to distinguish self from non-self and this education begins at the thymus where autoreactive T cells are recognized and eliminated. However, a small fraction of autoimmune T cells escape to the periphery and cause damage to host tissues. Tregs, by mechanisms that are not well understood, are able to inhibit autoimmune T cells to maintain self-tolerance and immune suppression (*1-3*). Tregs also play important roles in anti-tumor responses as well as transplantation immunity. Dysregulation of Treg function has been shown to be involved in different kinds of immunological diseases ranging from the digestive to the central nervous system (*4, 5*).

Tregs deploy various strategies to mediate their suppressive activity including: i) secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines such as TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10; ii) cytolysis by granzyme secretion; iii) metabolic disruption e.g. by adenosine; iv) suppression of DC function e.g. via induction of indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase (IDO) (*6-8*) and (v) perturbing DC-dependent extracellular redox remodeling leading to restricted extracellular cysteine (Cys<sub>ex</sub>) availability for naïve T (Tn) cells (*9*). A key role for CTLA-4, a co-receptor expressed preferentially on Tregs, is implicated in the Treg suppression mechanism (*1*, *8*, *10*). CTLA-4 interacts with CD80/CD86 on antigen presenting cells (APCs) and transduces an intracellular inhibitory signal to APCs. Thus, one strategy for Treg-dependent immunosuppression is via down-regulation of APC function (*1*, *11*).

In addition to the T cell receptor (TCR)-antigen:major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II interaction, costimulatory signals and cytokines, T cell activation and proliferation also requires a reducing microenvironment that is shaped mainly by APCs,

especially DCs (9, 12, 13). Upon stimulation by T cells, DCs increase uptake of cystine via the  $x_c$  cystine transporter, and by a convoluted metabolic route involving the  $\gamma$ -glutamyl cycle, furnish Cys<sub>ex</sub>, resulting in a relatively more reducing redox potential that is conducive to T cell proliferation (2, 9). Furthermore, cysteine is needed by T cells for synthesis of GSH, which provides reducing power for DNA synthesis (14) and for cell cycle progression from the G1 to S phase (15, 16). Although extracellular cystine is relatively abundant, naïve T cells are inefficient at transporting the oxidized form of the amino acid and depend on DC-derived cysteine to meet their metabolic needs (17). DCs, by controlling the Cys<sub>ex</sub> level, are able to affect intracellular GSH levels and subsequent redox signaling pathways in T cells (2).

The physiological relevance of redox remodeling is demonstrated by the dramatic increase in non-protein thiols in lymphoid tissues following immunization (*18*). Additionally, Payer's Patches from the gut show very low thiol staining because resident APCs from lamina propria lack the  $x_c$ <sup>-</sup> transporter for cystine. However, under inflammatory conditions as in inflammatory bowel diseases, infiltration of peripheral APCs with high  $x_c$ <sup>-</sup> transporter expression allows Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation, promoting activation and hyperreactivity of lamina propria T cells (*19*). We have demonstrated that Tregs suppress Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation, and that this is correlated with suppression of T cell activation and proliferation (*9*). However, the mechanism by which Tregs interfere with the redox signaling crosstalk between DCs and Teffs is unknown.

In this study, we demonstrate that the Tregs decrease  $Cys_{ex}$  levels in an antigendependent, antigen-nonspecific and CTLA-4-dependent manner. We show that Tregs use multiple strategies for extracellular redox remodeling including modulation of DC and Teff GSH metabolism and competitive uptake of cysteine. Together, these studies provide the first mechanistic insights into how Tregs influence redox metabolism in DCs and consequently, in Teffs.

#### **3.3 Materials and Methods**

#### 3.3.1 Animals

DO11.10 TCR transgenic mice were a generous gift from Dr. Nicholas Lukacs (University of Michigan) and were bred at our animal facility. BALB/c mice and CD1 mice (7-10 weeks) were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). All procedures for animal handling were performed in accordance with the protocols approved by the University's Committee on Use and Care of Animals.

#### 3.3.2 Cell preparation and cell culture conditions

DCs were obtained from bone marrows of the DO11.10 mice and induced by recombinant murine granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and IL-4 (R&D systems), as described previously (*9, 20*). Immature bone marrow-derived DCs were harvested at day 7 and used in T cell co-cultures as APCs.

Treg (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>) and Tn (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>) cells were isolated from mouse spleen and lymph nodes by magnetic-activated cell sorting using an AutoMACS sorter (Miltenyi Biotec) as described (9, 21). For activation of Teffs, purified Tn cells were cultured in 24well plates (1 ml) supplemented with 1  $\mu$ M OVA<sub>323-329</sub> antigen and irradiated splenocyte feeders (1:3) or DCs (2:1). The same conditions were employed for activation of Tregs, except that 20 ng/ml IL-2 (R&D systems) was also added to the medium. DCs (5 x  $10^5$  /well) were co-cultured in 24 well plates with Tn cells (1:4) with or without Tregs (1:4:2) for 48 h at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator in RPMI medium supplemented with 100 µg/ml penicillin and streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol and 2.5% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum in the presence of either 1 µM OVA<sub>323-329</sub> antigen or anti-CD3 antibody (1 µg/ml). Alternatively, DCs were treated with LPS (100 ng/ml) in the absence and presence of Tregs and 1 µM OVA<sub>323-329</sub> for 48 h. Anti-CTLA-4 antibody (100 µg/ml) was added to the DC+Tn+Treg or DC+LPS+Treg co-culture to block the function of CTLA-4. In transwell experiments, DCs were co-cultured with Tn cells and Tregs were either placed in direct contact with DC:Tn (at a ratio of 1:4:2) or the upper chamber of the transwell (Millicell, 0.4 µm pore size; Millipore, Bedford, MA) at the same ratio.

#### 3.3.3 Measurement of thiols and disulfides by HPLC

Concentrations of extracellular cystine, cysteine, GSH and GSH<sub>in</sub> concentrations were measured using the HPLC method as described (9, 22). The GSH<sub>in</sub> values were normalized to protein concentration determined in the Bradford assay with bovine serum albumin as standard. The extracellular cysteine/cystine redox potential (E<sub>h</sub>) was calculated using the Nernst equation:  $E_h = E_o + RT/2F \ln ([cystine]/[cysteine]^2)$ , where  $E_0$ = -250 mV at pH 7.4.

#### 3.3.4 T cell proliferation assay

Tn cells (4 x  $10^4$ ) were cultured with varying numbers of Tregs for 72 h in round bottom 96-well plates with DCs (1 x  $10^4$ ) in the presence of either 1  $\mu$ M OVA<sub>323-329</sub> or 1  $\mu$ g/ml anti-CD3 antibody. When needed, 50  $\mu$ M cysteine was added every 24 h during the culture. T cell proliferation was assayed by measuring incorporation of  $[^{3}H]$ thymidine (1  $\mu$ Ci/ml, PerkinElmer) during the last 16 h of culture.

#### **3.3.5** Western blot analysis

DCs from control, DC+LPS, DC+LPS+Treg and DC+LPS+Treg+anti-CTLA-4 antibody-treated cultures were harvested and lysed in lysis buffer on ice. Aliquots of cell lysates (20  $\mu$ g) were boiled and loaded on to a 10% SDS polyacrylamide gel and electroblotted onto a PVDF membrane. Antibodies against  $\gamma$ GCS (Lab Vision) and  $\beta$ actin (Sigma) were used to monitor expression of the proteins and detected using the Dura chemiluminescent horseradish peroxidase system (Pierce) as per the vendor's protocol.

#### **3.3.6 Metabolic labeling**

Activated Teffs and Tregs (2 x  $10^{6}$  each) were cultured in cystine-free RPMI medium supplemented with 50 µM cysteine, 100 µg/ml penicillin and streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol and 2.5% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum. [<sup>35</sup>S]-cysteine (PerkinElmer, 1 µCi/ml) was added to the cell culture media for 24 h. T cells were collected and suspended in 125 µl PBS for the following analysis: 1) 25 µl for protein normalization: mixed with 25 µl of lysis buffer; 2) 50 µl for GSH analysis: mixed with 50 µl of metaphosphoric acid solution (16.8 g/liter metaphosphoric acid, 5 M NaCl, and 5 mM EDTA); Intracellular GSH radioactivity was measured and quantified as described previously (9); 3) 50 µl for taurine analysis and protein radioactivity measurement: mixed with 50 µl 10% trichloracetic acid (TCA). Proteins were precipitated with 10% TCA and dissolved in 1 M NaOH to measure radioactivity. Supernatants were used for taurine analysis using the HPLC method as described (23).

Medium samples were collected for the measurement of cysteine and sulfate radioactivity. To measure the radioactivity associated with Cys<sub>ex</sub>, HPLC fractions containing cysteine were collected and measured by scintillation counting. For sulfate measurement, BaCl<sub>2</sub> (100 mM final) was added to the medium to precipitate sulfate. The pellet was dissolved in 1 M NaOH and the radioactivity was analyzed by scintillation counter. The radioactivity of sulfate in the control medium was subtracted from the final values.

#### 3.3.7 Confocal microscopy and fluorescence analyses

Tn cells were cultured with DCs for 0, 6, 24, 36, 48 and 72 h in the presence of 1  $\mu$ M OVA<sub>323-329</sub>. In the Treg experiment, Tn cells were pre-stained with 2  $\mu$ M PKH26 (Sigma), a fluorescent dye that labels membranes, to distinguish them from Treg cells under co-culture conditions. When used, Tregs were added at a 1:4:2 ratio of (DC:Tn:Tregs) in the presence of 1  $\mu$ M OVA<sub>323-329</sub> for up to 48 h. Cysteine (50  $\mu$ M) was added every 24 h during the culture. At the conclusion of the experiment, T cells from different culture conditions were separated from DCs and labeled with 10  $\mu$ M CMFDA for 30 min at 37°C. Following removal of the staining solution, cells were incubated for another 30 min at 37°C in 1 ml prewarmed serum-free medium. Hoechst dye (2  $\mu$ g/ml, Invitrogen) was added during the last 5 min to stain nuclei. Cells were then washed with PBS and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde. Confocal images were acquired using an Olympus FV500 confocal microscope. The following excitation wavelengths were employed for the individual dyes: 360 nm for Hoechst (emission: 480 nm), 551 nm for PKH26 (emission: 570 nm) and 492 nm for CMFDA (emission: 517 nm).

For quantitative analysis of the GSH fluorescence intensity, the nuclear perimeter was defined by the area of Hoechst staining and the cell perimeter from the bright field image of the cell seen by light microscopy as described previously (24). The cytoplasmic volume was the difference in the whole cell volume and the nuclear volume. The nuclear/cytoplasm GSH ratio was represented as the total CMFDA intensity (calculated using the ImageJ software) in each compartment.

#### **3.3.8 Statistical analysis**

Comparison between groups was done using two-tailed Student's *t*-test. *P* values <0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

#### **3.4 Results**

#### 3.4.1 Treg-mediated redox remodeling is antigen-dependent, but antigen-nonspecific

We have previously used BALB/c mice as a source of immune cells and shown that Tregs suppress Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation with anti-CD3 antibody stimulation (9). Although this mode of T cell activation is widely used to mimic antigenic stimulation, the absence of antigen activation limits biological interpretation (25). We therefore evaluated the antigen-dependence of Treg-mediated redox remodeling using DO11.10 OVA<sub>323-329</sub>-specific TCR transgenic mice. DCs, Tn and Tregs were purified from DO11.10 mice and co-cultured in the presence of either OVA<sub>323-329</sub> antigen or anti-CD3 antibody. As shown in Fig. 3.1A, the magnitude of Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation was similar regardless of whether OVA<sub>323-329</sub> antigen or anti-CD3 antibody stimulation was utilized. Furthermore, the magnitude of decrease in Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation by Tregs was also similar under both conditions (Fig. 3.1A). DCs in culture hold the extracellular cysteine/cystine redox potential at ~-80 mV (Fig. 3.1B), consistent with the growth arrest/differentiation stage of these cells. Co-culture of DCs with Tn in the presence of either OVA<sub>323-329</sub> antigen or

anti-CD3 antibody stimulation resulted in a reductive shift to ~-120 mV, consistent with conditions favoring T cell proliferation (2, 26). However, addition of Tregs to the DC-Tn cell co-culture caused an oxidative shift to ~-100 mV. We have previously shown that addition of exogenous cysteine at levels seen under DC-Tn co-culture conditions abrogates Treg-mediated suppression of T cell proliferation induced by anti-CD3 antibody activation (9). Similarly, with OVA stimulation, addition of 50  $\mu$ M cysteine also alleviated inhibition of T cell proliferation by Tregs (Fig. 3.1C). In subsequent experiments, DCs, Tn and Tregs from DO11.10 mice were used with OVA<sub>323-329</sub> antigen stimulation.

Activation of Tn cells requires antigen presented by MHC class II molecules to be recognized by the TCR. To evaluate whether the Treg effect on  $Cys_{ex}$  is antigen-specific, DCs and Tn cells from DC11.10 mice and Tregs from different mouse strains were used. Tregs from DO11.10 mice suppressed  $Cys_{ex}$  levels to ~70% as compared with DC-Tn co-culture, as expected (Fig. 3.1D). Similarly, Tregs from BALB/c mice and CD1 mice also suppressed  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation to a similar extent, indicating that Treg-mediated redox remodeling is antigen-nonspecific.

#### 3.4.2 Treg-mediated redox remodeling is contact and CTLA-4 dependent

We have previously shown that DC-T cell contact is required for  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation (9). However, in principle, Treg suppression of  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation could occur simply via competition for cysteine released by DCs. To address this possibility, Tregs were cultured in the upper chamber of a transwell set-up while DCs and Tn cells were in the lower chamber. Under these conditions, Tregs were unable to suppress  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation (Fig. 3.2A). Furthermore,  $Cys_{ex}$  levels were not diminished when Tregs

pre-activated by DCs and IL-2 were employed. These results suggest that cell-cell contact is required for Treg mediated redox remodeling, consistent with the view that Tregs suppression of T cell proliferation in vitro is cell-contact dependent (1, 8).

Tregs constitutively express high levels of CTLA-4, which competes with CD28 on Teffs and transmits inhibitory signals to cells (*1, 10, 27-29*). To investigate the role of CTLA-4 in Treg-mediated redox remodeling, we used anti-CTLA-4 antibody. As shown in Fig. 3.2B, anti-CTLA-4 antibody abrogated the effect of Tregs on Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation (Fig. 3.2B). As a control, anti-CTLA-4 antibody added to a DC-Tn cell co-culture did not interfere with [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> levels. These results demonstrate that diminution in Cys<sub>ex</sub> by Tregs is dependent on co-stimulatory molecules e.g. CTLA-4.

#### 3.4.3 Tregs interfere with GSH metabolism in DCs

In principle, Tregs can interfere with the redox crosstalk between DCs and Teffs in at least three ways: 1) modulation of DC function that leads to lower cysteine production, 2) competition for the Cys<sub>ex</sub> pool, and 3) modulation of Teff function by limiting cysteine availability. First, we investigated whether Tregs inhibit cysteine secretion by DCs using LPS stimulation to exclude the effects of Teffs on DCs in the experiment. We have demonstrated that LPS, like Teffs, stimulates Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation (*9*) and that Tregs suppress this effect in a CTLA-4-dependent fashion (Fig. 3.3A). We found that Tregs, in addition to decreasing Cys<sub>ex</sub> levels, also decreased [GSH]<sub>ex</sub>, a response that was abrogated by anti-CTLA-4 antibody (Fig. 3.3B). This was paralleled by an increase in [GSH]<sub>in</sub> in LPS-stimulated DCs which was inhibited by Tregs in a CTLA-4-dependent manner (Fig. 3.3C). Western blot analysis revealed significant up-regulation of the catalytic subunit of  $\gamma$ -GCS in response to LPS stimulation, attenuation of this response by

Tregs and abrogration of the Treg effect by anti-CTLA-4 antibody (Fig. 3.3D). In contrast, Tregs did not alter the expression of other key proteins involved in mediating  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation viz., the  $x_c$  transporter and  $\gamma$ -glutamyltranspeptidase. These results suggest that one mechanism by which Tregs decrease  $Cys_{ex}$  accumulation is by inhibiting GSH synthesis in DCs.

#### 3.4.4 Cysteine uptake and utilization by Tregs and Teffs

To determine whether competition by Tregs for the  $Cys_{ex}$  pool represents an additional mechanism of regulating  $Cys_{ex}$  levels, we used a metabolic labeling approach with [<sup>35</sup>S]-cysteine. After 24 h, the radioactivity associated with the cysteine pool was not significantly different in the Treg versus Teff medium (Fig. 3.4A). This suggests that cysteine consumption by Tregs might constitute one mechanism for reducing  $Cys_{ex}$  during activation of T cells.

However, for a competition to be a plausible mechanism, Tregs, which are nonproliferating, must show net consumption of the imported cysteine to support its continuous influx. To address this issue, we determined the fate of cysteine imported by Teffs and Tregs. The four major intracellular cysteine sinks are protein, GSH, taurine and sulfate (*30*) and the incorporation of [<sup>35</sup>S]-cysteine into these pools in activated Treg and Teff cells was assessed. As shown in Fig. 3.5A, Teffs showed considerably higher incorporation of radioactive cysteine into protein (50%) and GSH (25%) compared to Tregs. This is consistent with activated Teff cells being fated to proliferate while Tregs are anergic. In contrast, a greater proportion (50%) of cysteine was oxidized to sulfate by Tregs compared to Teffs (Fig. 3.4A). Almost no incorporation of radioactivity into taurine was seen in the intra- or extra-cellular pools in either Teffs or Tregs. A very

similar pattern of radioactivity distribution was observed when Teffs and Tregs were activated by DCs instead of irradiated splenocytes (Fig. 3.4B). Collectively, these results reveal that cysteine is preferentially utilized for protein synthesis by Teffs and is catabolized to sulfate by Tregs.

#### 3.4.5 Tregs block GSH relocalization in Teffs during T cell activation

Next, we investigated how restricted cysteine availability in the presence of Tregs affects mobilization of the  $GSH_{in}$  pool in activated Teffs. Previous studies have shown that GSH concentrates in the nucleus during early stages of cell proliferation but later, redistributes approximately equally between the nuclear and cytoplasmic compartments (24). We imaged changes in GSH<sub>in</sub> localization during T cell activation and found that GSH co-localized with nuclear DNA during the early stages of T cell activation (Fig. 3.5A). However, 24 h later, GSH appeared to be more diffusely distributed between the cytoplasmic and nuclear compartments. In order to quantitate this change, we compared the ratio of the nuclear: cytoplasmic GSH fluorescence observed by confocal microscopy analysis and found that it decreased ~2-fold over a 24 h activation period and was unchanged over the next 48 h (Fig. 3.5B). To examine the effect of Tregs on GSH localization in Teffs, we pre-stained Teffs with PKH-26 (red) to distinguish Teffs from Tregs. In the presence of Tregs, GSH relocalization in Teffs appeared to be inhibited (Fig. 3.5C). Addition of 50  $\mu$ M cysteine to the DC-Tn-Treg culture restored GSH relocalization. The nuclear/cytoplasmic GSH ratio for Teffs from the DC-Tn-Treg coculture was similar to that of Tn cells (Fig. 3.5D). Exogenous cysteine abrogated the effect of Tregs on the nuclear:cytoplasmic GSH ratio. While these data suggest that Tregs stall relocalization of GSH<sub>in</sub>, we note several limitations with the analysis and therefore,

interpretation of the results. First, the large nuclear volume of T cells makes accurate determination of the fluorescence intensity in the cytoplasmic compartment difficult. Second, during activation, the volume of Teff cells increase making the comparative estimation of nuclear:cytoplasmic total GSH fluorescence more complicated.

#### **3.5 Discussion**

While the requirement for a reducing microenvironment to support T cell activation and proliferation has been known for quite a while (12, 31), redox modulation has emerged as an immunosuppressive strategy only recently (2, 9). We have previously described this novel suppression mechanism whereby Tregs cause an oxidative shift in the extracellular redox environment during DC-dependent T cell activation (9). In this study, we demonstrate that Tregs deploy multiple strategies for inhibiting DC-dependent extracellular redox remodeling (Fig. 3.6).

Activation of Teffs requires interaction between the TCR and a specific antigen presented by MHC class II molecules. However, the antigen specificity for the suppressive action of Tregs is controversial. While several studies suggest Tregs suppress in an antigen-restricted manner in vitro and in vivo (*32-34*), others report that Tregs do not require specific antigen-TCR interaction for suppression of Teff proliferation (*35, 36*). We demonstrate that while remodelling of the extracellular environment by Tregs is antigen-dependent it is not antigen-specific. These results are consistent with the observations of Vignali and coworkers who have shown that Tregs can suppress Teffs derived from mouse strains with distinct antigen specificities (*35*). Hence, Tregs might

harbor constitutive suppressive activity and mediate redox remodeling via a bystander suppression mechanism.

Recent studies by Sakaguchi and coworkers demonstrate an essential role for CTLA-4 in immunosuppression by Tregs (*1, 10*). Foxp3, a transcription factor needed for Treg function regulates CTLA-4 expression. Addition of anti-CTLA-4 antibody or disruption of the CTLA-4 gene in Tregs blocks Treg suppression and causes a variety of autoimmune diseases (*10, 37*). We showed that Treg-mediated redox remodeling is both contact- and CTLA-4-dependent. Administration of anti-CTLA-4 antibody blocked the Treg effect on  $Cys_{ex}$ ,  $GSH_{ex}$ ,  $GSH_{in}$  and  $\gamma$ -GCS expression, suggesting that CTLA-4 plays an important role in several aspects of redox remodeling by Tregs. By interacting with CD80/CD86 on DCs, Treg-derived CTLA-4 triggers several signaling pathways in DCs including activation of IDO expression and induction of the Foxo3 transcription factor (*27-29*). Tregs down-regulate CD80/CD86 costimulatory molecules on DCs to restrain the maturation and antigen presenting capacity of DCs (*38, 39*).

We found that GSH synthesis in LPS-stimulated DCs is down-regulated by Tregs, which is consistent with lower GSH extrusion by DCs and consequently, lower  $Cys_{ex}$ generation via the  $\gamma$ -glutamyl cycle. The regulatory crosstalk between Tregs and APCs has been extensively investigated. Since Foxo3 is activated via CTLA-4 signaling and Foxo3 is a sensor and regulator of redox signaling (*29, 40*), a potential link between this transcriptional factor and the  $\gamma$ -glutamyl cycle merits investigation.

The maintenance of GSH<sub>in</sub> levels requires the availability and transport of cysteine, the amino acid that limits GSH synthesis. Since cysteine is easily oxidized to cystine in the oxidizing extracellular milieu, the concentration of cysteine in the plasma is much lower than of cystine (41). However, the cystine transporter activity in naïve T cells is very low compared to the cysteine transporter activity (42), thus making them dependent on APCs to meet their cysteine needs (2, 9, 12). DCs express the  $x_c^-$  cystine transporter, and import cystine efficiently, stimulating Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation during T cell activation (9, 12). This response is inhibited by Tregs at multiple levels including cysteine consumption and its preferential oxidation to sulfate. However, the in vivo significance of this competitive mechanism for diminishing Cys<sub>ex</sub> is uncertain since Teff cells outnumber Treg cells, which represent only ~5-10% of total CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (3).

GSH plays essential roles in T cell functions including DNA synthesis (15, 43). Perturbation of GSH<sub>in</sub> levels and the GSH/GSSG redox status dramatically affects T cell proliferation, DNA synthesis and cytotoxic T cell activity (44). GSH<sub>in</sub> levels also substantially influence T cell signal transduction pathways such as tyrosine phosphorylation, AP1 and nuclear transcription factor  $\kappa B$  (NF $\kappa B$ ) (45). Overexpression of B cell leukemia/lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) results in increased GSH levels by recruiting GSH to the nucleus to prevent apoptosis (46). GSH is concentrated in the nucleus during the early stage of cell proliferation and distributed more evenly when cells reach confluency. GSH regulates nuclear protein functions via glutathionylation, which also protects protein thiols from further oxidation (24). Although our analysis of cytoplasmic versus nuclear GSH pools is limited by the technical challenges discussed above, at least qualitatively, the data suggest that GSH is concentrated in the nucleus in naïve T cells but is more diffusely distributed in T cells undergoing activation and proliferation. Progression through the cell cycle is correlated with metabolism-linked redox changes (47) and inhibition of GSH relocalization dynamics by Tregs might represent one

mechanism of inhibition of Teff proliferation. While the significance of GSH relocalization from the nuclear to the cytoplasmic compartment for Teff proliferation is not known, it is interesting that the inhibitory effect of Tregs on GSH<sub>in</sub> dynamics is alleviated by exogenous cysteine added at a concentration seen under DC-T cell co-culture conditions.

In summary, our study reveals that Tregs deploy multiple strategies for perturbing the extracellular redox environment during T cell activation, affecting both DCs and Tn cells. Elucidation of the signaling pathways that connect Treg engagement and the redox metabolic responses uncovered in this study might allow identification of potentially novel therapeutic targets for modulating Treg functions.



Figure 3.1 Antigen-dependent but antigen-nonspecific Treg-mediated redox remodeling. DCs were co-cultured with Tn cells (1:4) or with Tn+Treg cells (1:4:2) in the presence of 1  $\mu$ M OVA<sub>323-329</sub> antigen or 1  $\mu$ g/ml anti-CD3 antibody. (*A*) Tregs suppressed Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation regardless of OVA<sub>323-329</sub> antigen or anti-CD3 antibody activation. (*B*) Tregs increased the extracellular cysteine/cystine redox potential in an antigen-dependent manner. (*C*) Addition of exogeous cysteine abrogated Treg suppression of Teff proliferation, which was antigen-dependent. (*D*) Treg suppression of Cys<sub>ex</sub> accumulation is not antigen specific. DCs were co-cultured with Tn cells (1:4 ratio, both from DO11.10 mice) in the presence of 1  $\mu$ M OVA<sub>323-329</sub> antigen. Tregs from DO11.10, BALB/c and CD1 mice were added separately to the DC-Tn co-culture, and the [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> was measured. [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> is expressed as percentage of the concentration in DC-Tn cell co-culture medium. Data represent the mean ± SD of four (*A*, *B*) and two (*C*, *D*) independent experiments each performed at least in duplicates. \* P<0.05; \*\* P<0.005; NS, not significant; two-tailed Student's *t*-test.



Figure 3.2 Contact and CTLA-4 dependent redox remodeling by Tregs. (A) DCs were co-cultured with Tn+Treg cells (1:4:2) or with Tregs placed in the upper chamber of a transwell (tw). In another experiment, Tregs were first activated by DCs in the presence of 1  $\mu$ M OVA<sub>323-329</sub> and IL-2 (20ng/ml) and then cultured in the transwell. [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> is expressed as a percent of the concentration in untreated DC-Tn cell co-culture medium. (B) DCs were co-cultured with Tn cells (1:4) or with Tn+Treg cells (1:4:2) ± anti-CTLA-4 antibody (100  $\mu$ g/ml). Data represent mean ± SD and are representative of 3 independent experiments performed in duplicate. \* P<0.05; \*\* P<0.005; NS, not significant; two-tailed Student's *t*-test.



**Figure 3.3 Tregs interfere with GSH synthesis by DCs.** DCs were treated with LPS (100 ng/ml) and cultured ± Tregs (1:2) and ± anti-CTLA-4 antibody (100 µg/ml). [Cys]<sub>ex</sub> (*A*) and [GSH]<sub>ex</sub> (*B*) were measured by HPLC. (*C*) [GSH]<sub>in</sub> was measured by HPLC and normalized to protein concentration. (*D*) Western blot analysis of the expression of γ-GCS in DCs. β-actin was used as a control for equal loading. Data represent mean ± SD (*A*, *B* and *C*) and are representative of 3 independent experiments (*A*-*D*). \* P<0.05; \*\* P<0.005; two-tailed Student's *t*-test.



Figure 3.4 Fate of cysteine in Tregs and Teffs. (A) Tn and Tregs were activated by irradiated splenocytes (1:3) in the presence of 1  $\mu$ M OVA<sub>323-329</sub> antigen for 72 h. IL-2 (20 ng/ml) was added for Treg activation. Activated Teffs and Tregs (2 x 10<sup>6</sup> each) were incubated with [<sup>35</sup>S]-cysteine (1  $\mu$ Ci/ml) in T cell medium containing 50  $\mu$ M cysteine for 24 h. [<sup>35</sup>S]-cysteine remaining in the medium and its incorporation into intracellular protein and GSH and extracellular sulfate were determined. (B) Tn and Tregs were activated by DCs (2:1) in the presence of 1  $\mu$ M OVA<sub>323-329</sub> antigen for 48 h and separated from DCs. [<sup>35</sup>S]-cysteine and cystine in the medium and its incorporation into protein, GSH and sulfate were determined. Data are representative of three (A) and two (B) independent experiments. \* P<0.05; NS, not significant; two-tailed Student's *t*-test.



Figure 3.5 Tregs block relocalization of nuclear GSH into cytoplasm in Teffs during T cell activation. (A) Confocal microscopy images of GSH localization in T cells during 72 h of T cell activation. T cells were co-cultured with DCs for 0, 6, 24, 36, 48, 72 h and separated from the co-culture by gentle pipetting and centrifugation. Cells were then stained with CMFDA for GSH (green), Hoechst 33342 (blue) for nuclei and imaged by confocal microscopy. (B) Quantification of the nuclear:cytoplasmic GSH ratio from experiment shown in panel A (n=4). The nuclear:cytoplasmic GSH ratio is represented as the total CMFDA intensity in each compartment. (C) PKH-26 pre-labeled Tn cells (red) were co-cultured with DCs in the presence or absence of Treg cells (1:4:2)  $\pm$  50  $\mu$ M cysteine for 24 h. T cells were separated and stained with CMFDA (green) and Hoechst 33342 (blue) to label GSH and nuclei, respectively. Yellow arrows indicate Tregs. (D) Quantitative analysis of the nuclear:cytoplasmic GSH ratio shown in panel C (n=3). \* P<0.05; \*\* P<0.005; two-tailed Student's *t*-test.



Figure 3.6 Model showing mechanism of Treg-mediated redox remodeling. Interaction of CTLA-4 on Tregs with CD80/86 on DCs triggers signaling in DCs that inhibits  $GSH_{in}$  synthesis. Tregs also compete with Teffs for cysteine uptake under in vitro conditions. These two processes decrease the  $Cys_{ex}$  pool. Limiting the cysteine pool not only decreases the  $[GSH]_{in}$  in Teffs, but also blocks GSH relocalization into the cytoplasm, thus inhibiting T cell activation and proliferation.

# References

- 1. Wing, K., and Sakaguchi, S. (2010) Regulatory T cells exert checks and balances on self tolerance and autoimmunity, *Nat Immunol 11*, 7-13.
- 2. Yan, Z., and Banerjee, R. (2010) Redox remodeling as an immunoregulatory strategy, *Biochemistry* 49, 1059-1066.
- 3. Sakaguchi, S. (2004) Naturally arising CD4+ regulatory t cells for immunologic self-tolerance and negative control of immune responses, *Annu Rev Immunol 22*, 531-562.
- 4. Sakaguchi, S., Yamaguchi, T., Nomura, T., and Ono, M. (2008) Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance, *Cell 133*, 775-787.
- 5. Randolph, D. A., and Fathman, C. G. (2006) Cd4+Cd25+ regulatory T cells and their therapeutic potential, *Annu Rev Med* 57, 381-402.
- 6. Vignali, D. A., Collison, L. W., and Workman, C. J. (2008) How regulatory T cells work, *Nat Rev Immunol* 8, 523-532.
- 7. Tang, Q., and Bluestone, J. A. (2008) The Foxp3+ regulatory T cell: a jack of all trades, master of regulation, *Nat Immunol 9*, 239-244.
- 8. Miyara, M., and Sakaguchi, S. (2007) Natural regulatory T cells: mechanisms of suppression, *Trends Mol Med 13*, 108-116.
- 9. Yan, Z., Garg, S. K., Kipnis, J., and Banerjee, R. (2009) Extracellular redox modulation by regulatory T cells, *Nat Chem Biol* 5, 721-723.
- 10. Wing, K., Onishi, Y., Prieto-Martin, P., Yamaguchi, T., Miyara, M., Fehervari, Z., Nomura, T., and Sakaguchi, S. (2008) CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function, *Science 322*, 271-275.
- 11. Mahnke, K., Bedke, T., and Enk, A. H. (2007) Regulatory conversation between antigen presenting cells and regulatory T cells enhance immune suppression, *Cell Immunol 250*, 1-13.
- 12. Angelini, G., Gardella, S., Ardy, M., Ciriolo, M. R., Filomeni, G., Di Trapani, G., Clarke, F., Sitia, R., and Rubartelli, A. (2002) Antigen-presenting dendritic cells provide the reducing extracellular microenvironment required for T lymphocyte activation, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99*, 1491-1496.
- 13. Sido, B., Braunstein, J., Breitkreutz, R., Herfarth, C., and Meuer, S. C. (2000) Thiol-mediated redox regulation of intestinal lamina propria T lymphocytes, *J Exp Med 192*, 907-912.

- 14. Avval, F. Z., and Holmgren, A. (2009) Molecular mechanisms of thioredoxin and glutaredoxin as hydrogen donors for Mammalian s phase ribonucleotide reductase, *J Biol Chem 284*, 8233-8240.
- 15. Suthanthiran, M., Anderson, M. E., Sharma, V. K., and Meister, A. (1990) Glutathione regulates activation-dependent DNA synthesis in highly purified normal human T lymphocytes stimulated via the CD2 and CD3 antigens, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87*, 3343-3347.
- 16. Messina, J. P., and Lawrence, D. A. (1989) Cell cycle progression of glutathionedepleted human peripheral blood mononuclear cells is inhibited at S phase, *J Immunol 143*, 1974-1981.
- 17. Garg, S. K., Yan, Z., Vitvitsky, V., and Banerjee, R. (2010) Differential Dependence on Cysteine from Transsulfuration versus Transport during T cell Activation, *Antioxid Redox Signal*.
- 18. Castellani, P., Angelini, G., Delfino, L., Matucci, A., and Rubartelli, A. (2008) The thiol redox state of lymphoid organs is modified by immunization: role of different immune cell populations, *Eur J Immunol 38*, 2419-2425.
- Sido, B., Lasitschka, F., Giese, T., Gassler, N., Funke, B., Schroder-Braunstein, J., Brunnemer, U., Meuer, S. C., and Autschbach, F. (2008) A prominent role for mucosal cystine/cysteine metabolism in intestinal immunoregulation, *Gastroenterology 134*, 179-191.
- 20. Lutz, M. B., Kukutsch, N., Ogilvie, A. L., Rossner, S., Koch, F., Romani, N., and Schuler, G. (1999) An advanced culture method for generating large quantities of highly pure dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow, *J Immunol Methods 223*, 77-92.
- 21. Kipnis, J., Avidan, H., Caspi, R. R., and Schwartz, M. (2004) Dual effect of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in neurodegeneration: a dialogue with microglia, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101 Suppl 2*, 14663-14669.
- 22. Garg, S. K., Banerjee, R., and Kipnis, J. (2008) Neuroprotective immunity: T cellderived glutamate endows astrocytes with a neuroprotective phenotype, *J Immunol 180*, 3866-3873.
- Foster, D. J., Vitvitsky, V. M., Banerjee, R., Heacock, A. M., and Fisher, S. K. (2009) Muscarinic receptor regulation of osmosensitive taurine transport in human SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells, *J Neurochem 108*, 437-449.

- 24. Markovic, J., Borras, C., Ortega, A., Sastre, J., Vina, J., and Pallardo, F. V. (2007) Glutathione is recruited into the nucleus in early phases of cell proliferation, *J Biol Chem* 282, 20416-20424.
- 25. Gajewski, T. F., Schell, S. R., Nau, G., and Fitch, F. W. (1989) Regulation of Tcell activation: differences among T-cell subsets, *Immunol Rev 111*, 79-110.
- 26. Moriarty-Craige, S. E., and Jones, D. P. (2004) Extracellular thiols and thiol/disulfide redox in metabolism, *Annu Rev Nutr* 24, 481-509.
- Grohmann, U., Orabona, C., Fallarino, F., Vacca, C., Calcinaro, F., Falorni, A., Candeloro, P., Belladonna, M. L., Bianchi, R., Fioretti, M. C., and Puccetti, P. (2002) CTLA-4-Ig regulates tryptophan catabolism in vivo, *Nat Immunol 3*, 1097-1101.
- Fallarino, F., Grohmann, U., Hwang, K. W., Orabona, C., Vacca, C., Bianchi, R., Belladonna, M. L., Fioretti, M. C., Alegre, M. L., and Puccetti, P. (2003) Modulation of tryptophan catabolism by regulatory T cells, *Nat Immunol 4*, 1206-1212.
- Dejean, A. S., Beisner, D. R., Ch'en, I. L., Kerdiles, Y. M., Babour, A., Arden, K. C., Castrillon, D. H., DePinho, R. A., and Hedrick, S. M. (2009) Transcription factor Foxo3 controls the magnitude of T cell immune responses by modulating the function of dendritic cells, *Nat Immunol 10*, 504-513.
- 30. Stipanuk, M. H., Coloso, R. M., Garcia, R. A., and Banks, M. F. (1992) Cysteine concentration regulates cysteine metabolism to glutathione, sulfate and taurine in rat hepatocytes, *J Nutr 122*, 420-427.
- 31. Ishii, T., Hishinuma, I., Bannai, S., and Sugita, Y. (1981) Mechanism of growth promotion of mouse lymphoma L1210 cells in vitro by feeder layer or 2-mercaptoethanol, *J Cell Physiol 107*, 283-293.
- 32. Corthay, A. (2009) How do regulatory T cells work?, *Scand J Immunol* 70, 326-336.
- 33. Yu, P., Gregg, R. K., Bell, J. J., Ellis, J. S., Divekar, R., Lee, H. H., Jain, R., Waldner, H., Hardaway, J. C., Collins, M., Kuchroo, V. K., and Zaghouani, H. (2005) Specific T regulatory cells display broad suppressive functions against experimental allergic encephalomyelitis upon activation with cognate antigen, J Immunol 174, 6772-6780.
- 34. Tanchot, C., Vasseur, F., Pontoux, C., Garcia, C., and Sarukhan, A. (2004) Immune regulation by self-reactive T cells is antigen specific, *J Immunol 172*, 4285-4291.

- 35. Szymczak-Workman, A. L., Workman, C. J., and Vignali, D. A. (2009) Cutting edge: regulatory T cells do not require stimulation through their TCR to suppress, *J Immunol 182*, 5188-5192.
- 36. Homann, D., Holz, A., Bot, A., Coon, B., Wolfe, T., Petersen, J., Dyrberg, T. P., Grusby, M. J., and von Herrath, M. G. (1999) Autoreactive CD4+ T cells protect from autoimmune diabetes via bystander suppression using the IL-4/Stat6 pathway, *Immunity* 11, 463-472.
- 37. Sakaguchi, S., Wing, K., Onishi, Y., Prieto-Martin, P., and Yamaguchi, T. (2009) Regulatory T cells: how do they suppress immune responses?, *Int Immunol 21*, 1105-1111.
- 38. Cederbom, L., Hall, H., and Ivars, F. (2000) CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells down-regulate co-stimulatory molecules on antigen-presenting cells, *Eur J Immunol 30*, 1538-1543.
- Misra, N., Bayry, J., Lacroix-Desmazes, S., Kazatchkine, M. D., and Kaveri, S. V. (2004) Cutting edge: human CD4+CD25+ T cells restrain the maturation and antigen-presenting function of dendritic cells, *J Immunol 172*, 4676-4680.
- Kops, G. J., Dansen, T. B., Polderman, P. E., Saarloos, I., Wirtz, K. W., Coffer, P. J., Huang, T. T., Bos, J. L., Medema, R. H., and Burgering, B. M. (2002) Forkhead transcription factor FOXO3a protects quiescent cells from oxidative stress, *Nature 419*, 316-321.
- 41. Eck, H. P., Gmunder, H., Hartmann, M., Petzoldt, D., Daniel, V., and Droge, W. (1989) Low concentrations of acid-soluble thiol (cysteine) in the blood plasma of HIV-1-infected patients, *Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler 370*, 101-108.
- 42. Ishii, T., Sugita, Y., and Bannai, S. (1987) Regulation of glutathione levels in mouse spleen lymphocytes by transport of cysteine, *J Cell Physiol 133*, 330-336.
- 43. Pallardo, F. V., Markovic, J., Garcia, J. L., and Vina, J. (2009) Role of nuclear glutathione as a key regulator of cell proliferation, *Mol Aspects Med 30*, 77-85.
- 44. Grimble, R. F. (2006) The effects of sulfur amino acid intake on immune function in humans, *J Nutr 136*, 1660S-1665S.
- 45. Staal, F. J. (1998) Glutathione and HIV infection: reduced reduced, or increased oxidized?, *Eur J Clin Invest 28*, 194-196.
- Voehringer, D. W., McConkey, D. J., McDonnell, T. J., Brisbay, S., and Meyn, R. E. (1998) Bcl-2 expression causes redistribution of glutathione to the nucleus, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95*, 2956-2960.

47. Menon, S. G., and Goswami, P. C. (2007) A redox cycle within the cell cycle: ring in the old with the new, *Oncogene 26*, 1101-1109.

#### Chapter 4

# Differential Dependence on Cysteine from Transsulfuration versus Transport during T Cell Activation

#### 4.1 Abstract

The synthesis of glutathione, a major cellular antioxidant with a critical role in T cell proliferation, is limited by cysteine. In this study, we have evaluated the contributions of the  $x_c$  cystine transporter and the transsulfuration pathway to cysteine provision for glutathione synthesis and antioxidant defense in naïve versus activated T cells and in the immortalized T lymphocyte cell line, Jurkat. We show that the  $x_c$  transporter while absent in naïve T cells, is induced after activation, releasing T cells from their cysteine dependency on antigen presenting cells. We also demonstrate the existence of an intact transsulfuration pathway in naïve and activated T cells and in Jurkat cells. The flux through the transsulfuration pathway increases in primary but not in transformed T cells in response to oxidative challenge by peroxide. Inhibition of the transsulfuration pathway in both primary and transformed T cells decreases cell viability under oxidative stress conditions.

#### **4.2 Introduction**

T cells play important roles in innate and adaptive immune responses and their dysfunction due to excessive sensitivity to self-antigens or to deficiency, are associated with pathologies. Redox modulation has emerged as a key strategy in regulation of T cell functions (1, 2). Glutathione (GSH), a major cellular antioxidant and a cysteine reservoir, is an important component of redox signaling pathways and plays an essential role in T cell function. An increase in intracellular GSH levels is needed for the proliferative response of T cells to mitogens and antigens (3). Perturbation of intracellular GSH levels and the GSH/GSSG redox status dramatically affects DNA synthesis, T cell proliferation and the cytotoxic T cell response (4, 5).

Low cysteine levels allow activation of NF $\kappa$ B-dependent transcription in the early G1 phase of the cell cycle whereas in the late G1 and S phases, IL-2-dependent cell proliferation is correlated with higher cysteine/glutathione levels (*6*). GSH depletion restricts cell cycle progression from the G1 to S phase (*7*). Cysteine, the limiting amino acid for GSH synthesis, can be obtained from metabolism through the transsulfuration pathway, or via transport. The ASC system imports cysteine whereas the  $x_c^-$  antiporter uses the transmembrane glutamate gradient to drive import of cystine into the cell where it is subsequently reduced to cysteine (Fig. 4.1). The  $x_c^-$  cystine transporter is composed of two subunits, the transmembrane xCT light chain, which houses the transporter activity and the regulatory extracellular 4F2 heavy chain (*8*). In the extracellular compartment, cysteine exists predominantly in its oxidized form and the concentration of plasma cysteine (10-25  $\mu$ M) is significantly lower than of cystine (100-200  $\mu$ M) (*1*).

Naïve T cells reportedly lack the x<sub>c</sub> transporter and are thus metabolically

dependent on antigen presenting cells (APC) for meeting their cysteine needs during activation and proliferation (9-11). Endowed with the  $x_c$ <sup>-</sup> transporter, APCs take up cystine, and using a convoluted metabolic route involving conversion to GSH followed by its secretion and cleavage, furnish extracellular cysteine for uptake by T cells (11). GSH levels in APCs influence T cell response patterns with low GSH favoring a Th1over a Th2-associated cytokine secretion pattern (12). The contribution if any, of the transsulfuration pathway, which converts methionine to cysteine, to redox metabolism in naïve T cells is not known. Methionine is an essential amino acid that is converted via the methionine cycle to homocysteine. Two enzymes in the transsulfuration pathway, cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase (CBS) and  $\gamma$ -cystathionase, convert homocysteine to cysteine, and play a quantitatively significant role in supplying cysteine needed for GSH synthesis in several cell types (13, 14).

In the present study, we have evaluated changes in the transsulfuration pathway and the  $x_c$  system during transformation of naïve T cells to the activated state. We demonstrate using metabolic labeling and pharmacological inhibition studies, the presence of an intact transsulfuration pathway in both naïve and activated T cells and in Jurkat cells. We find that the expression of xCT is induced upon T cell activation weaning T cells off their metabolic dependence on APCs. Under oxidative stress conditions, the transsulfuration pathway is upregulated in naïve but not transformed T cells while its inhibition enhances cellular susceptibility to death in both naïve and transformed cells.

#### 4.3 Materials and Methods

#### 4.3.1 Mice and cell lines

Male BALB/c mice (7-10 weeks) were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME) and maintained in pathogen-free animal facilities at the University of Michigan. The University's Committee on Use and Care of Animals approved the protocol for animal handling used in this study. Jurkat cells were obtained from ATCC (Manassas, VA).

## 4.3.2 Isolation and preparation of murine primary cells

 $\text{CD3}^+$  T lymphocytes were prepared from lymph nodes and spleen that were harvested and mashed. T cells were enriched by negative selection on T cell columns (R&D Systems, MN) as per the vendor's protocol (*15*). For in vitro activation, as isolated naïve T cells were suspended in RPMI media containing 2.5% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), 2 mM L-glutamine, 1x penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen), 50  $\mu$ M 2-mercaptoethanol (T cell medium) and incubated with either anti-CD3 + anti-CD28 antibodies (eBiosciences) or with anti-CD3 antibody + dendritic cells or irradiated splenocytes (as APC, 1:4 ratio) for 48-72 h. Following incubation, activated T cells were separated from APCs by gentle pipetting and T cells were collected by low speed centrifugation at 200 x g for 10 min at 4°C. Activation of T cells was assessed by monitoring the activation markers CD25 and CD69 by flow cytometry (Fig. 4.2). Numbers inside panels indicate the percentage of naïve and activated CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells positive for CD25-FITC and CD69-PE.

Dendritic cells were obtained from femurs and tibias removed from adult male mice and the bone marrow were flushed out with  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$ -free phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Red blood cells were lysed with ACK buffer (Lonza, Walkersville, MD).

90

Bone marrow cells were plated at 2-5 x  $10^6$  cells/ml in a 250 ml flask (total 15 ml) in DMEM supplemented with 100 µg/ml penicillin/streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 µM β-mercaptoethanol, 1 mM pyruvate, 1:100 nonessential amino acids, and 10% heat-inactivated FBS (dendritic cell medium). Recombinant murine granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor and recombinant murine interleukin 4 (R&D systems), at 20 ng/ml each, were added on day 0. On days 2 and 4, the culture medium was replaced with dendritic cell medium supplemented with cytokines, and floating cells were discarded. On day 7, cells were collected with accutase (eBioscience) to harvest adherent cells and centrifuged, the pellet was resuspended in fresh dendritic cell medium and used in T cell co-cultures as APCs.

#### 4.3.3 Cell culture conditions

Jurkat cells were cultured in DMEM media containing 10% FBS, 2 mM Lglutamine and 1x penicillin/streptomycin (Jurkat media). To activate Jurkat cells, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) was added to the culture medium at a final concentration of 100 ng/ml for 48 h. PMA was washed out and cells were incubated with fresh culture medium at the start of the experimental treatment. Naïve or pre-activated T cells were cultured in T cell medium and at the indicated time points, an aliquot of the medium was collected for extracellular cysteine, cystine and glutamate measurement, rapidly frozen and stored at -80°C until further use. To measure the intracellular thiol concentration and to estimate flux through the transsulfuration pathway, naïve or activated T cells were incubated with 2  $\mu$ Ci/ml L-[<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine (specific activity of 1175 Ci/mmol, Perkin Elmer) in the presence or absence of 2.5 mM propargylglycine (PPG) for 6 or 12 h. The final concentration of L-[<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine was 2 nM and final specific activity, 20  $\mu$ Ci/ $\mu$ mol. To measure the effect of oxidative stress on the transsulfuration flux, the same experiments were repeated except in the presence of 20  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M t-BuOOH for naïve and activated T cells respectively. At the indicated time points, cells were washed with ice cold PBS, harvested and frozen at -80°C until further use.

#### **4.3.4** Metabolite analysis

Samples for analysis of extracellular cysteine, cystine and glutamate were prepared by mixing conditioned media with an equal volume of metaphosphoric acid solution and the precipitated proteins were sedimented by centrifugation at 13,000 x g for 10 min at 4°C. Protein-free extracts were alkylated with monoiodoacetic acid, derivatized with 2,4dinitrofluorobenzene solution and analyzed via HPLC as previously described (*13, 15*). The concentration of metabolites in the control medium was subtracted from the final values. Intracellular GSH and [<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine incorporation into GSH were quantified as described previously (*13, 15*). The intracellular values were normalized to the protein concentration in each sample.

#### 4.3.5 Western blot analysis

T cells (naïve or activated T cells) and Jurkat cells were harvested and lysed on ice as described previously (14). Antibodies against methionine synthase, CBS, xCT (Novus),  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine ligase ( $\gamma$ GCL, Lab Vision) and actin (Sigma) were used to monitor expression of the respective protein antigens and detected using the Dura chemiluminescent horseradish peroxidase system (Pierce) as per the vendor's protocol.

# 4.3.6 [<sup>14</sup>C]-Cystine uptake assay

Naïve or activated T cells (2 x  $10^6$ ) were incubated with 0.1  $\mu$ Ci/ml, [<sup>14</sup>C]-cystine (250 mCi/mmol, Perkin Elmer,) in the presence or absence of 500  $\mu$ M sulfasalazine (SAS)

for the indicated times. The final concentration of  $[^{14}C]$ -cystine was 400 nM and the final specific activity was 0.5  $\mu$ Ci/mmol. Cells were collected, washed 3 times with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline and then lysed with 400  $\mu$ l of 500 mM NaOH. Scintillation cocktail was added and total intracellular  $[^{14}C]$  radioactivity was recorded. Data were normalized to cell number.

#### 4.3.7 Cell viability assay

Cells were incubated with the indicated concentrations of tertiary butyl hydroperoxide (t-BuOOH) in the presence or absence of 2.5 mM PPG for 12-14 h. Cell viability was determined by incubating the cells with 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide dye (0.5 mg/ml) followed by washing, solubilizing in dimethylosulfoxide and reading the optical density at 553 nm.

#### 4.3.8 Statistical analyses

Comparison between groups was done using the Student's *t* test. P < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

#### 4.4 Results

# 4.4.1 The x<sub>c</sub><sup>-</sup> transporter is induced during APC-independent activation of T cells

While T cells depend on APCs for their cysteine needs (9, 11), it is known that T cells can be activated ex vivo in an APC-independent fashion, i.e., by antibodies to the T cell receptor, CD3 and to the co-stimulatory molecule, CD28. This raises the obvious question as to how cysteine needs are met under these activation conditions. To assess the involvement of the  $x_c$ <sup>-</sup> transporter in cystine uptake, we used Western blot analysis to monitor expression of the xCT subunit in naïve and anti-CD3/anti-CD28 activated T cells.

As reported previously (16), xCT expression was not detectable in naïve T cells, but was highly induced in activated T cells (Fig. 4.3a).

To evaluate whether induction of xCT is correlated with a functional difference in cystine transport in activated but not naïve T cells, we measured the kinetics of cystine consumption. During incubation with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies, T cells progressively consume increasing amounts of cystine and accumulate cysteine in the extracellular compartment (Fig. 4.3b), consistent with the induction of the  $x_c$ <sup>-</sup> transporter. Cysteine accumulation plateaued after 48 h at which time extracellular cystine concentration was very low.

#### 4.4.2 The x<sub>c</sub><sup>-</sup> transporter is induced during APC-dependent activation of T cells

Next, we examined whether  $x_c$  expression is also induced in T cells activated in the presence of dendritic cells and anti-CD3. We found that xCT was strongly induced after 48 h of incubation (Fig. 4.4a). We focused the remainder of the study on APC-activated T cells.

#### 4.4.3 Cystine/glutamate exchange is mediated by the x<sub>c</sub><sup>-</sup> transporter

We compared the kinetics of [<sup>14</sup>C]-cystine uptake in naïve versus activated T cells. Under these conditions, activated T cells showed a time-dependent increase in intracellular radiolabel accumulation (Fig. 4.4b), which was sensitive to inhibition by SAS, an inhibitor of  $x_c^-$  (Fig. 4.4c). In contrast, negligible uptake of radioactivity was observed with naive T cells. Since,  $x_c^-$  is an antiporter that exchanges cystine stoichiometrically with glutamate, we assessed extracellular glutamate levels in the conditioned media from activated T cells cultured following their separation from APCs. Under these conditions, activated T cells showed a time-dependent increase in extracellular glutamate levels, which was sensitive to SAS treatment (Fig. 4.4d,e). Naïve T cells do not export glutamate and the basal concentration in the culture medium (~100  $\mu$ M) is unchanged over a 24 h incubation time (Fig. 4.4d).

# 4.4.4 The endogenous transsulfuration pathway is a source of cysteine for GSH in naïve T cells

Since naïve T cells do not express  $x_c$ , we wondered whether the endogenous transsulfuration pathway is a source of cysteine needed for GSH and other biosynthetic purposes in these cells. To test this, we measured the transfer of radioactivity from [<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine to GSH in the presence and absence of PPG, a suicide inhibitor of  $\gamma$ -cystathionase, the second enzyme in the transsulfuration pathway (Fig. 4.1). The transsulfuration pathway is clearly intact in both naïve and activated T cells as evidenced by the incorporation of radiolabel from [<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine into GSH and its inhibition by PPG (Fig. 4.5a). Radiolabel incorporation in naïve cells was inhibited to ~50% and ~33% of the untreated values at 6 h and 12 h respectively by PPG. In activated T cells, accumulation of radioactivity in GSH was less sensitive to PPG inhibition.

The 100% increase in [<sup>35</sup>S]-labeling of GSH in naïve T cells between 6 and 12 h was accompanied by an ~40% increase in GSH concentration during the same time period (Fig. 4.5b). The GSH concentration was higher at 6 h in activated compared to naïve T cells and increased only marginally (~12%) at 12 h. We examined the expression of some key regulatory enzymes in sulfur metabolism: methionine synthase, CBS and  $\gamma$ -glutamyl-cysteine ligase in naive and activated T cells. While methionine synthase expression was unchanged, activation was accompanied by increased expression of CBS and  $\gamma$ -glutamyl-cysteine ligase (Fig. 4.5c).
#### 4.4.5 T cells activate the transsulfuration pathway upon peroxide challenge

Mammalian cells are known to upregulate flux through the transsulfuration pathway upon oxidative stress conditions and, in the short term, increase GSH concentration by ~40% (*17, 18*). We assessed whether the transsulfuration pathway responds similarly in naïve and activated T cells to peroxide challenge. For this, naïve or APC-activated T cells were incubated with [<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine and challenged with the indicated concentration of t-BuOOH in the presence or absence of PPG for 6 h and 12 h (Fig. 4.6). t-BuOOH treatment induced a 50% increase in radiolabel incorporation in naïve T cells both at 6 and 12 h after stimulation, which was completely inhibited by PPG (Fig. 4.6a). Activated T cells showed a modest increase (~25%) in radiolabel incorporation into GSH at 6 h and a more sizeable increase (~65%) after 12 h of t-BuOOH exposure (Fig. 4.6b). These results demonstrate that T cells activate the transsulfuration pathway in response to peroxide-induced oxidative stress.

# 4.4.6 Transformed T cells do not activate the transsulfuration pathway upon peroxide challenge

Jurkat cells are commonly used as a model for T cells in laboratory experiments. Since the metabolism of transformed cells is often distinct from that of the primary cells from which they are derived, we investigated whether Jurkat cells have an intact transsulfuration pathway that is responsive to oxidative stress conditions. A time-dependent increase in radiolabel incorporation from [<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine into GSH that was sensitive to PPG inhibition confirmed the presence of an intact transsulfuration pathway in these cells (Fig. 4.7a). The intracellular GSH concentration initially increased (50%) between 3-12 h of incubation after which it stabilized (Fig. 4.7b). The sensitivity of the

intracellular GSH pool to PPG, which diminished to ~50% and ~30% of control values at 12 and 24 h respectively, indicated that between 50-70% of the cysteine used for GSH synthesis is derived via other routes. The presence of the xCT subunit of the cystine transporter as detected by Western blot analysis (not shown) suggests that Jurkat cells can derive cysteine from imported cystine. Unlike primary T cells, the transsulfuration pathway in Jurkat cells is unresponsive to peroxide stress as evidenced by the lack of increased radiolabel incorporation (Fig. 4.7c) and decreased intracellular GSH upon t-BuOOH exposure (Fig. 4.7d).

PMA-activated Jurkat cells also showed a time-dependent increase in radiolabel incorporation from [ $^{35}$ S]-methionine into GSH (Fig. 4.7e) albeit the extent of incorporation was considerably lower than in unactivated cells (Fig. 4.7c). As with resting Jurkat cells, the transsulfuration pathway in activated Jurkat cells was unresponsive to oxidative stress, at least for the first 12 hours following peroxide treatment. Thereafter, a ~45% decrease in radiolabel incorporation into GSH was seen between 12-24 h (Fig. 4.7e) although the intracellular GSH pool size decreased only marginally over the same time period (Fig. 4.7f). This suggests that cysteine derived from some other source, possibly transport, might be responsible for maintaining intracellular GSH concentrations under these conditions.

## 4.4.7 Transsulfuration pathway blockade increases T cell susceptibility to oxidative stress-induced cell death

Since the transsulfuration pathway is important in many cell types for cysteine provision especially under oxidative stress conditions, we compared the viability of T cells exposed to varying concentrations of t-BuOOH in the presence and absence of PPG

(Fig. 4.8). Both naive T cells and Jurkat cells are significantly more susceptible to peroxide-induced cell death ( $LD_{50}=35 \mu M$  and 42  $\mu M$  respectively) than activated T cells ( $LD_{50}=240 \mu M$ ). Inhibition of the transsulfuration pathway increased the sensitivity of all three cell types ( $LD_{50}=21 \mu M$ , 32  $\mu M$  and 150  $\mu M$  for naïve, Jurkat and activated T cells, respectively).

### 4.5 Discussion

The requirement for a reducing extracellular microenvironment for T cell activation and proliferation has been suspected from their dependence on exogenous reductant such as  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol added to the culture medium (19). The basis of this dependence has been ascribed to the inability of naïve T cells to efficiently transport cystine, the oxidized form of the amino acid that is relatively abundant in circulation. More recent studies have demonstrated that APCs, especially dendritic cells, provide the extracellular reducing milieu to facilitate an immune response (9, 11). In the present study, we demonstrate that during APC-independent activation of T cells by anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies, cystine uptake and extracellular cysteine accumulation, hallmarks of APC metabolism during activation, are observed. This begs the obvious question as to what is the primary sulfur metabolic status of T cells, i.e., what pathways exist for provision of cysteine needed for GSH and other biosynthetic needs in naïve cells and what routes for cysteine acquisition are added upon activation. To address these questions, we have characterized the transsulfuration pathway in naïve and activated T cells, its contribution to GSH homeostasis and antioxidant capacity under oxidative stress conditions and the induction of the  $x_c$  transporter system that leads to APC independence. We also compare the sulfur

metabolic status of Jurkat cells, a transformed cell line that is widely used as an experimental model system for T cells.

Activation of T cells is accompanied by up-regulation of pathways of nutrient uptake, ATP production, macromolecule synthesis and programs T cells for proliferation (20). We show that xCT, the catalytic subunit of the  $x_c$  cystine transporter, is highly expressed in T cells activated in an APC-dependent or independent manner, but is not detectable in naïve T cells. Earlier studies have shown that the mRNA levels for xCT are very low in naïve T cells, whereas both xCT mRNA and protein are expressed in dendritic cells (10, 11, 21). Mice with homozygous disruption of the x<sub>c</sub><sup>-</sup> transporter (xCT<sup>-</sup> <sup>/-</sup>) exhibit redox imbalance in the plasma, with high cystine and low GSH in comparison to xCT<sup>+/+</sup> mice. Embryonic fibroblasts from xCT<sup>-/-</sup> mice fail to survive in culture unless supplemented with cysteine derivatives or antioxidants (22). Enhanced xCT activity in astrocytes increases GSH synthesis and protects neurons from oxidative stress (23). Expression of xCT is regulated by Nrf-2 (nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor-2), which binds to the antioxidant response element (24) in response to oxidative stress. Although the mechanism of transcriptional induction of xCT during T cell activation awaits elucidation, it is possible that an initial pro-oxidant response during T cell activation leads to the transcriptional activation of xCT.

Clearly, in the absence of  $x_c$ , T cells must obtain cysteine needed for protein synthesis and for maintaining GSH at the levels seen in naïve cells from elsewhere. One such avenue is the transporter for cysteine. In T cells, cysteine uptake is mainly mediated by the sodium dependent ASC system (for alanine, serine and cysteine) (25). The cystine transport activity is extremely low in resting T cells compared to the cysteine transport activity. When T cells are activated, both cystine and cysteine transporter activities are up-regulated, with the cystine uptake rate still being lower than the cysteine uptake rate (25).

Another route for provision of cysteine is the transsulfuration pathway whose presence in T cells is controversial. Human lymphoid cell lines from normal subjects but not from a cystathionuric patient with  $\gamma$ -cystathionase deficiency, were able to convert [<sup>35</sup>S]-homocysteine to [<sup>35</sup>S]-cysteine, consistent with the presence of the transsulfuration pathway (26). However, other studies using the PCR and flow cytometry techniques reported that T cells lack  $\gamma$ -cystathionase and concluded that these cells lack the transsulfuration pathway (16, 27). Using a sensitive metabolic radiolabeling method, we confirm the presence of an intact transsulfuration pathway in naïve and activated T cells as well as in Jurkat cells (Figs 4.5 and 4.6). The transsulfuration pathway is estimated to contribute ~50% of the cysteine in the GSH pool in hepatoma cells lines and in macrophages (13, 14). Our studies demonstrate the quantitative significance of the transsulfuration pathway to GSH homeostasis in T cells where inhibition by PPG caused a ~35%, ~25% and ~50% decrease in GSH concentration within 12 h in naïve, activated and Jurkat T cells, respectively. Furthermore, increased flux through the transsulfuration pathway is observed under oxidative stress conditions in primary T cells and represents an autocorrective response for rebuilding antioxidant capacity, i.e., regaining the GSH pool size compromised by oxidizing conditions. However, even in the absence of increased flux through this pathway, its importance to the cellular capacity for countering oxidative stress is exemplified by the decrease in  $LD_{50}$  for peroxide in all three cell types treated with the transsulfuration inhibitor, PPG (Fig. 4.8).

The transsulfuration pathway and the  $x_c$ <sup>-</sup> transporter play important roles in several settings of intercellular communication. For example, the transsulfuration pathway is induced during monocyte differentiation and plays an important role in intracellular killing of mycobacteria (14). Inhibition of the transsulfuration pathway during mycobacterial infection allows bacteria to proliferate in the hostile environment of the host. Redox signaling between astrocytes and T cells endows astrocytes with a neuroprotective phenotype (15) and blockade of the  $x_c$ <sup>-</sup> transporter is detrimental for this phenotype. Immunosuppression of auto-reactive T cells by regulatory T cells involves interference with extracellular cysteine accumulation by dendritic cells (11).

Since naïve T cells have the capacity for cysteine synthesis via the endogenous transsulfuration route, why then are they dependent on APCs for provision of cysteine during activation? We posit that the key role for APC-derived extracellular cysteine might be to create a reducing microenvironment needed to facilitate inter- and intracellular signaling. The cysteine/cystine redox couple is an important redox buffer and is considered to be an important indicator of the extracellular redox poise (28). Human cells in the culture maintain an extracellular redox potential of ~-80 mV, which is associated with growth arrest/differentiation. This value is similar to the plasma cysteine/cystine redox potential in young healthy adults (29). More negative redox potential values favor cellular proliferation whereas more positive values favor cell death. Hence, cysteine accumulation by APCs is instrumental for fashioning a reductive shift in the extracellular microenvironment that is conducive for subsequent T cell proliferation. In addition to remodeling of the extracellular redox potential, it is possible that flux through the transsulfuration pathway is insufficient for meeting the cysteine needs of T cells that receive activation signals, which eventually leads to an increase in cell size in addition to triggering proliferation. The relative importance of APC-derived cysteine for extracellular redox remodeling versus supporting intracellular biosynthetic needs, awaits further investigation.



Figure 4.1 Glutathione homeostasis in T cells by the  $x_c$  transporter and the transsulfuraton pathway. PPG, SAS, and azaserine are inhibitors of  $\gamma$ -cystathionase, the  $x_c$  transporter and the neutral amino acid transporter ASC, respectively. CBS, CSE and GCL denote, cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase,  $\gamma$ -cystathionase and  $\gamma$ -glutamylcysteine ligase, respectively. This figure was prepared by Sanjay K. Garg.



Figure 4.2 Upregulation of activation associated markers on T cells surface. Naïve and dendritic cell-activated T cells were stained with anti-CD25-PE and anti-CD69-FITC or the corresponding isotype controls and analyzed by flow cytometry. Numbers inside the boxes indicate percentage of  $CD3^+$  naïve and activated T cells positive for CD25-FITC and CD69-PE.



**Figure 4.3 T cells induce the cystine transporter during activation**. (a) xCT expression increases upon activation of T cells by anti-CD3/anti-CD28 antibodies. Cell lysate from either naïve T cells or T cells activated by anti-CD3/anti-CD28 antibodies for 6, 24 and 72 h were subjected to immunoblotting and probed with anti-xCT antibody. Actin is shown as an equal loading control. (b) Naïve CD3+ T cells were incubated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies and the concentration of cystine and cysteine were measured at the indicated time points. Data are representative of 2 (a) and 3 (b) independent experiments performed in triplicates (b). Zhonghua Yan and Sanjay K. Garg performed the experiments together in figure 4.3a. Sanjay K. Garg performed the experiments in figure 4.3b.



**Figure 4.4 Activated but not naïve T cells mediate cystine/glutamate exchange via**  $\mathbf{x_c}$ **.** (a) xCT expression increases upon activation of T cells by dendritic cells. Cell lysate from either naïve T cells or T cells collected from a dendritic cell and T cell co-culture were subjected to immunoblotting and probed with anti-xCT antibody. Actin is shown as an equal loading control. Naïve (**b,d**) or activated (**b, c, d, e**) T cells were incubated with 0.1 µCi/ml [<sup>14</sup>C]-cystine in the presence or absence of 500 µM SAS (**c, e**) for the indicated times. An aliquot of the medium at indicated times was removed for glutamate analysis (**d, e**) and cells were collected for intracellular radioactivity measurement (**b, c**). For this, cells were collected in a tube, washed 3 times with cold phosphate-buffered sailine and then lysed with 400 µl NaOH (500 mM). Scintillation cocktail was added and total intracellular [<sup>14</sup>C] radioactivity was recorded and normalized to the cell number. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD and are representative of 2 (**a, b, e**) and 3 (**c,d**) independent experiments performed in duplicates. \*  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*  $p \le 0.01$  and \*\*\*  $p \le 0.001$ . Sanjay K. Garg performed the experiments in figure 4.4b-e.



**Figure 4.5 The transsulfuration pathway is intact in both naïve and activated T cells.** Naïve (gray) and activated (black bar) T cells were incubated with 2  $\mu$ Ci/ml L-[<sup>35</sup>S]methionine in the presence or absence of 2.5 mM PPG for 6 and 12 h. At the indicated time, cells were harvested and radioactivity incorporation in GSH (**a**) and the intracellular GSH concentration (**b**) were measured and normalized to protein. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD and are representative of 3 independent experiments performed on different batches of cells. Statistical analysis using Student t-test revealed significant changes in intracellular GSH synthesis and radioactive labeling over time in both naïve and activated T cells and its inhibition by PPG. \*  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*\*  $p \le 0.001$  and ns=not significant. Panel **c** shows the comparison of expression level of CBS, methionine synthase,  $\gamma$ GCL (heavy subunit) between naïve and activated T cells via Western blot analysis. Zhonghua Yan and Sanjay K. Garg performed the experiments together in figure 4.5a, b. Sanjay K. Garg did the experiments in figure 4.5c.



Figure 4.6 Peroxide stress activates the transsulfuration pathway in both naïve and activated T cells. Naïve T cells (a)  $\pm 20 \mu$ M t-BuOOH (gray bar) were incubated with 2  $\mu$ Ci/ml L-[<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine  $\pm 2.5 \text{ mM}$  PPG. Activated T cells (b)  $\pm 100 \mu$ M t-BuOOH (gray bar) were incubated with 2  $\mu$ Ci/ml L-[<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine  $\pm 2.5 \text{ mM}$  PPG. At the indicated time, cells were harvested and radioactivity incorporation into GSH was measured and normalized to protein concentration. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD and are representative of 3 independent experiments performed on different batches of cells. Statistical analysis using the Student t-test revealed significant changes in intracellular radiolabeling upon t-BuOOH treatment and inhibition by PPG. \* $p \leq 0.05$ , \*\* $p \leq 0.01$ , and \*\*\* $p \leq 0.001$ . Zhonghua Yan and Sanjay K. Garg performed the experiments together in figure 4.6a, b.



Figure 4.7 Jurkat cells have an intact transsulfuration pathway that is unresponsive to peroxide stress. Resting Jurkat cells (a-d) or PMA-activated Jurkat cells (e-f) were either untreated (a, b) or treated with 10  $\mu$ M t-BuOOH (c, d, e, f) and incubated with 2  $\mu$ Ci/ml L-[<sup>35</sup>S]-methionine  $\pm$  2.5 mM PPG as described under Methods. At the indicated time, cells were harvested and radioactivity incorporation into GSH (a, c, e) and the intracellular GSH concentration (b, d, f) were measured and normalized to protein concentration. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD and are representative of 3 independent experiments performed in duplicates. Statistical analysis using the Student's t-test revealed a significant time-dependent increase in intracellular GSH synthesis and radiolabeling in Jurkat cells and inhibition by PPG. \* $p \le 0.05$ , \*\* $p \le 0.01$ , \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ , ns=not significant.



Figure 4.8 Blockade of the transsulfuration pathway enhances T cell susceptibility to oxidative stress-induced cell death. Naïve (a) or activated (b) T cells or Jurkat cells (c) were incubated with the indicated concentrations of t-BuOOH  $\pm$  2.5 mM PPG for 12-14 h. Cell viability was determined as described under Methods. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD and are representative of at least 2 independent experiments performed in duplicates.

## References

- 1. Yan, Z., and Banerjee, R. (2010) Redox remodeling as an immunoregulatory strategy, *Biochemistry* 49, 1059-1066.
- 2. Pani, G., Colavitti, R., Borrello, S., and Galeotti, T. (2000) Redox regulation of lymphocyte signaling, *IUBMB Life 49*, 381-389.
- 3. Smyth, M. J. (1991) Glutathione modulates activation-dependent proliferation of human peripheral blood lymphocyte populations without regulating their activated function, *J Immunol 146*, 1921-1927.
- 4. Grimble, R. F. (2006) The effects of sulfur amino acid intake on immune function in humans, *J Nutr 136*, 1660S-1665S.
- 5. Pallardo, F. V., Markovic, J., Garcia, J. L., and Vina, J. (2009) Role of nuclear glutathione as a key regulator of cell proliferation, *Mol Aspects Med 30*, 77-85.
- 6. Droge, W., Eck, H. P., Gmunder, H., and Mihm, S. (1991) Modulation of lymphocyte functions and immune responses by cysteine and cysteine derivatives, *Am J Med 91*, 140S-144S.
- 7. Messina, J. P., and Lawrence, D. A. (1989) Cell cycle progression of glutathionedepleted human peripheral blood mononuclear cells is inhibited at S phase, *J Immunol 143*, 1974-1981.
- 8. Sato, H., Tamba, M., Ishii, T., and Bannai, S. (1999) Cloning and expression of a plasma membrane cystine/glutamate exchange transporter composed of two distinct proteins, *J Biol Chem* 274, 11455-11458.
- 9. Angelini, G., Gardella, S., Ardy, M., Ciriolo, M. R., Filomeni, G., Di Trapani, G., Clarke, F., Sitia, R., and Rubartelli, A. (2002) Antigen-presenting dendritic cells provide the reducing extracellular microenvironment required for T lymphocyte activation, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99*, 1491-1496.
- Pacheco, R., Oliva, H., Martinez-Navio, J. M., Climent, N., Ciruela, F., Gatell, J. M., Gallart, T., Mallol, J., Lluis, C., and Franco, R. (2006) Glutamate released by dendritic cells as a novel modulator of T cell activation, *J Immunol 177*, 6695-6704.
- 11. Yan, Z., Garg, S. K., Kipnis, J., and Banerjee, R. (2009) Extracellular redox modulation by regulatory T cells, *Nat Chem Biol* 5, 721-723.
- 12. Peterson, J. D., Herzenberg, L. A., Vasquez, K., and Waltenbaugh, C. (1998) Glutathione levels in antigen-presenting cells modulate Th1 versus Th2 response patterns, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95*, 3071-3076.

- 13. Mosharov, E., Cranford, M. R., and Banerjee, R. (2000) The quantitatively important relationship between homocysteine metabolism and glutathione synthesis by the transsulfuration pathway and its regulation by redox changes, *Biochemistry* 39, 13005-13011.
- 14. Garg, S., Vitvitsky, V., Gendelman, H. E., and Banerjee, R. (2006) Monocyte differentiation, activation, and mycobacterial killing are linked to transsulfuration-dependent redox metabolism, *J Biol Chem* 281, 38712-38720.
- 15. Garg, S. K., Banerjee, R., and Kipnis, J. (2008) Neuroprotective immunity: T cellderived glutamate endows astrocytes with a neuroprotective phenotype, *J Immunol 180*, 3866-3873.
- 16. Srivastava, M. K., Sinha, P., Clements, V. K., Rodriguez, P., and Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. (2010) Myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibit T-cell activation by depleting cystine and cysteine, *Cancer Res* 70, 68-77.
- 17. Martinov, M. V., Vitvitsky, V. M., Banerjee, R., and Ataullakhanov, F. I. (2009) The logic of the hepatic methionine metabolic cycle, *Biochim Biophys Acta 1804*, 89-96.
- 18. Vitvitsky, V., Thomas, M., Ghorpade, A., Gendelman, H. E., and Banerjee, R. (2006) A functional transsulfuration pathway in the brain links to glutathione homeostasis, *J Biol Chem 281*, 35785-35793.
- 19. Pruett, S. B., Obiri, N., and Kiel, J. L. (1989) Involvement and relative importance of at least two distinct mechanisms in the effects of 2-mercaptoethanol on murine lymphocytes in culture, *J Cell Physiol 141*, 40-45.
- 20. Jones, R. G., and Thompson, C. B. (2007) Revving the engine: signal transduction fuels T cell activation, *Immunity* 27, 173-178.
- 21. Castellani, P., Angelini, G., Delfino, L., Matucci, A., and Rubartelli, A. (2008) The thiol redox state of lymphoid organs is modified by immunization: role of different immune cell populations, *Eur J Immunol 38*, 2419-2425.
- 22. Sato, H., Shiiya, A., Kimata, M., Maebara, K., Tamba, M., Sakakura, Y., Makino, N., Sugiyama, F., Yagami, K., Moriguchi, T., Takahashi, S., and Bannai, S. (2005) Redox imbalance in cystine/glutamate transporter-deficient mice, *J Biol Chem* 280, 37423-37429.
- 23. Shih, A. Y., Erb, H., Sun, X., Toda, S., Kalivas, P. W., and Murphy, T. H. (2006) Cystine/glutamate exchange modulates glutathione supply for neuroprotection from oxidative stress and cell proliferation, *J Neurosci 26*, 10514-10523.

- 24. Lee, J. M., and Johnson, J. A. (2004) An important role of Nrf2-ARE pathway in the cellular defense mechanism, *J Biochem Mol Biol* 37, 139-143.
- 25. Ishii, T., Sugita, Y., and Bannai, S. (1987) Regulation of glutathione levels in mouse spleen lymphocytes by transport of cysteine, *J Cell Physiol 133*, 330-336.
- 26. Sturman, J. A., Beratis, N. G., Guarini, L., and Gaull, G. E. (1980) Transsulfuration by human long term lymphoid lines. Normal and cystathionasedeficient cells, *J Biol Chem* 255, 4763-4765.
- 27. Eagle, H., Washington, C., and Friedman, S. M. (1966) The synthesis of homocystine, cystathionine, and cystine by cultured diploid and heteroploid human cells, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 56*, 156-163.
- 28. Go, Y. M., and Jones, D. P. (2008) Redox compartmentalization in eukaryotic cells, *Biochim Biophys Acta 1780*, 1273-1290.
- 29. Moriarty-Craige, S. E., and Jones, D. P. (2004) Extracellular thiols and thiol/disulfide redox in metabolism, *Annu Rev Nutr* 24, 481-509.

### Chapter 5

#### **Conclusions and Perspectives**

#### **5.1 Summary of findings**

Activation and proliferation of T cells require a reducing extracellular microenvironment in the immune synapse that is provided by antigen presenting cells, especially dendritic cells. Stimulation of dendritic cells by T cells activates the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway in dendritic cells and induces an antioxidant response. It also enhances system  $x_c$ -dependent cystine uptake, leading to increased GSH synthesis, export, and finally, degradation to cysteine outside the cell. Accumulation of extracellular cysteine supports GSH synthesis in T cells while also leading to a more reducing redox potential that is needed for T cell proliferation.

Naturally occurring regulatory T cells, a suppressor sub-population of T cells, prevent autoimmune diseases and maintain peripheral tolerance by suppressing self-reactive effector T cells. They also suppress beneficial immune responses to parasites, viruses, and tumors. However, their mechanism of suppression is still not fully understood. Here, we have demonstrated that inhibition by regulatory T cells of dendritic cell-induced extracellular redox remodeling is a component of the regulatory T cell suppression mechanism. Suppression of DC-dependent T cell proliferation by regulatory T cells is correlated with a significant diminution in extracellular cysteine concentration and is abrogated by addition of exogenous cysteine. We demonstrated that regulatory T

cell-mediated redox perturbation is antigen-dependent but not antigen-specific, is CTLA-4-dependent, and requires cell-cell contact. Regulatory T cells decrease expression of  $\gamma$ glutamylcysteine synthetase, the rate-limiting enzyme for GSH synthesis, leading to lower intracellular GSH synthesis in LPS-stimulated DCs. Additionally, regulatory T cells might contribute to restricting extracellular cysteine accumulation by a competitive uptake mechanism, and they partition cysteine more proficiently to the oxidation product, sulfate, while effector T cells divert more of their cysteine pool towards protein and GSH synthesis. By interfering with the extracellular cysteine pool, regulatory T cells not only decrease the intracellular GSH levels in effector T cells, but also block GSH relocalization into the cytoplasm, thus inhibiting T cell activation and proliferation. Furthermore, the decrease in the extracellular redox potential during T cell activation is associated with an increase in the levels of cell surface thiols in both DCs and T cells, which is diminished in the presence of regulatory T cells.

We also investigated the role of the  $x_c$  cystine transporter and the transsulfuration pathway in the regulation of GSH homeostasis in T cells and in the defense against oxidative stress. The  $x_c$  transporter is absent on naïve T cells, but up-regulated during T cell activation. We showed the existence of the intact transsulfuration pathway in naïve and activated T cells and the Jurkat T lymphoma cell line. The flux through the transsulfuration pathway increases in T cells under oxidative stress conditions. Inhibition of the transsulfuration pathway increases the vulnerability of T cells and Jurkat cells to oxidative cell death.

#### 5.2 A general mechanism of Treg suppression

In this thesis, we report a novel mechanism of regulatory T cell suppression of effector T cell activation and proliferation by modulation of the extracellular redox environment (1, 2). In contrast to naïve T cells, co-culture of regulatory T cells with DCs does not affect extracellular cysteine concentration. However, regulatory T cells suppress cysteine accumulation in the extracellular compartment when added to co-cultures of DCs and naive T cells. As a consequence, both intracellular (diminished GSH levels in T cells) and extracellular (diminished cell surface thiol labeling on T cells and on DCs) perturbations in the redox status result (3). Remarkably, although regulatory T cells are known to mediate their suppressive functions by multiple strategies, provision of a single reagent, i.e., exogenous cysteine at concentration (3). This observation begs the question as to whether redox regulation serves as a master switch in the multipronged suppressive action of regulatory T cells.

We posit that the redox changes in the intra- and extra-cellular compartments influence one or more of the well known regulatory T cell suppressive mechanisms. For instance, the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, has antioxidant properties (4), and TGF $\beta$ , a multifunctional cytokine, is redox regulated (5). Activation of latent TGF $\beta$  requires reductive cleavage of a disulfide bond that links it to the latency-associated peptide, but over-reduction leads to formation of inactive TGF $\beta$  monomers. Thus, activation and inactivation of TGF $\beta$  are subject to redox control, and dynamic changes in the extracellular redox milieu might be important for regulating TGF $\beta$  activity (6). Furthermore, granzyme A, the cytolytic T cell protease, cleaves redox factor 1 (Ref-1), which in turn enhances cell death (7). Regulatory T cells induce indoleamine 2, 3-

dioxygenase in DCs, which catalyzes the oxidative catabolism of tryptophan (8). The tryptophan metabolites generated from the kynurenine pathway by indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase, which inhibits T cell proliferation, are redox active (9). Subtle changes of the extracellular redox status may cause the functional changes of these redox sensitive proteins, which affects T cell activation and proliferation. Regulatory T cells need to modulate the extracellular redox status for these molecules to work in a proper redox microenvironment. Thus, redox control may be integral to regulatory T cell mediated suppression mechanisms and is more pervasive than previously recognized.

Furthermore, extracellular redox remodeling is utilized by other cell types such as myeloid-derived suppressor cells and B cells to modulate immune responses as well (10). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells are induced by tumor cells from myeloid progenitor cells to suppress the anti-tumor immunity (11). One mechanism they use to suppress T cell activation and function is by consuming cystine and limiting cysteine availability. These myeloid-derived suppressor cells express high levels of the  $x_c$ <sup>-</sup> transporter to uptake cystine but do not export cysteine, which makes a cystine and cysteine deficient microenvironment inhibiting T cell proliferation (10). During B cell differentiation into plasma cells, ROS levels increase initially followed by an antioxidant response, including induction of antioxidant enzymes and accumulation of small molecular weight thiols (12). Thus, thiol-mediated redox modulation has emerged as a key regulatory strategy for the regulation of adaptive immune responses.

#### **5.3 Future directions**

It has long been known that T cell activation and proliferation require a reducing milieu, which is shaped primarily by the metabolic activity of antigen presenting cells, especially DCs. Interactions of DCs with naïve T cells stimulate cystine consumption and cysteine accumulation in the extracellular space, which produces an extracellular redox potential suitable for T cell proliferation (3, 13). A more reducing extracellular redox potential is reflected in the increased T cell surface thiol status (3). Isotope-coded affinity tag (ICAT) coupled to mass spectrometry is being employed to identify the redoxsensitive cell-surface thiols on T cells (14). Our preliminary study using Jurkat cells in the presence and absence of N-acetyl-cysteine (NAC) identified about 60 membrane proteins showing redox sensitivity. Examples of the potential redox sensitive membrane proteins that were identified in this preliminary study include CD5, CD45, and annexin A2. CD5, which contains several cysteine-rich domains, is highly expressed on T cells and upregulated upon strong activation (15). CD45 is shown to be a redox sensitive protein tyrosine phosphatase, controlling the production of cytokines (16). Annexin A2 is a substrate of Trx and involved in the processing of plasminogen (17). These redoxsensitive membrane proteins are potential targets for extracellular redox regulation during DC-T cell interaction. The effects of redox status change on the function of these redox sensitive proteins and on T cell biology, i.e., activation and proliferation, remain to be elucidated. Identification and characterization of redox sensitive proteins on DCs and T cells will shed light on potential pharmacological targets to modulate immune responses.

Accumulation of extracellular Trx1 has been observed under DC-T cell co-culture conditions. The role of extracellular Trx1 in T cell activation and proliferation is also an interesting topic to be studied. Despite the antioxidant role of intracellular Trx1 in

maintaining the cytosolic redox environment, a reductive role for extracellular Trx1 is quite controversial. Many studies suggest cytokine/chemokine-like functions for extracellular Trx1 in immune and cancer cells. Extracellular Trx1 exhibits proinflammatory effects by stimulating cytokine release and proliferation of lymphocytes (18, 19). It also exhibits a chemotactic effect, inducing migration of neutrophils, monocytes and T cells (20). However, several recent studies suggest the role of extracellular Trx1 in reducing disulfide bonds on cell surface membrane proteins. Matthias et al. showed that reduction of the CD4 glycoprotein by Trx1 secreted by effector T cells facilitates the entry of HIV-1 (21). Using the mechanism-based kinetic trapping method, CD30 was found to be the main interaction partner for extracellular Trx1 on the surface of lymphocytic cell lines (22). More recently, extracellular Trx1 was shown to activate the classical transient receptor potential (TRPC) channel by breaking the disulfide bridge in TRPC5 (23). Thus, the extracellular Trx1 accumulated in DC-T cell co-culture may change the redox status of T cell surface proteins such as CD4 and CD30, which influence T cell activation and proliferation. T cells play a central role in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. Extracellular concentrations of Trx1 are highly elevated in the serum and synovial fluid of rheumatoid arthritis patients, which makes it a good biomarker for the disease activity of rheumatoid arthritis (24). However, the role of extracellular Trx in rheumatoid arthritis is unclear. We therefore can consider a role for extracellular Trx in regulating T cell surface thiol status, thus affecting T cell reactivity and arthritis development.

The greater availability of extracellular cysteine influences the intracellular antioxidant capacity within T cells since cysteine limits GSH biosynthesis. Consequently,

intracellular GSH levels rise and in turn, influence T cell signal transduction pathways and gene expression. The choreography of GSH localization and the GSH/GSSG redox potential changes during T cell activation, and their correlation with the onset and operation of signaling pathways and cell cycle progression await elucidation.

Modulation of the extracellular redox microenvironment induced by DC and T cell interaction by regulatory T cells, could be mediated by one or more mechanisms. For instance, by limiting cysteine availability, regulatory T cells deprive effector T cells of a building block needed for protein and GSH synthesis. Alternatively, by perturbing the redox environment, regulatory T cells can have both indirect effects by enhancing other suppressive mechanisms used by them (as discussed above) and direct effects on T cell activation and proliferation targets, which are sensitive to the redox potential and the redox status of key signaling proteins. Many questions remain to be addressed regarding how regulatory T cells inhibit reductive remodeling by DCs. For instance, how do regulatory T cells modulate the redox environment and redox signaling in vivo? Is there a connection between the mechanism for perturbing redox remodeling and Foxp3 expression, and what is the extent of cross-talk between the other suppressive mechanisms and redox remodeling? And finally, what is the physiological relevance of the redox remodeling mechanism in normal and disease states? The answers to these questions will help illuminate the biology of regulatory T cell suppressive mechanisms and identify potential therapeutic targets.

## References

- 1. Yan, Z., Garg, S. K., Kipnis, J., and Banerjee, R. (2009) Extracellular redox modulation by regulatory T cells, *Nat Chem Biol* 5, 721-723.
- 2. Yan, Z., and Banerjee, R. (2010) Redox remodeling as an immunoregulatory strategy, *Biochemistry* 49, 1059-1066.
- 3. Yan, Z., Garg, S. K., Kipnis, J., and Banerjee, R. (2009) Extracellular redox modulation by regulatory T cells, *Nat Chem Biol* 5, 721-723.
- 4. Haddad, J. J., and Fahlman, C. S. (2002) Redox- and oxidant-mediated regulation of interleukin-10: an anti-inflammatory, antioxidant cytokine?, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 297*, 163-176.
- 5. Barcellos-Hoff, M. H., and Dix, T. A. (1996) Redox-mediated activation of latent transforming growth factor-beta 1, *Mol Endocrinol 10*, 1077-1083.
- 6. Blakytny, R., Erkell, L. J., and Brunner, G. (2006) Inactivation of active and latent transforming growth factor beta by free thiols: potential redox regulation of biological action, *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 38, 1363-1373.
- Fan, Z., Beresford, P. J., Zhang, D., Xu, Z., Novina, C. D., Yoshida, A., Pommier, Y., and Lieberman, J. (2003) Cleaving the oxidative repair protein Ape1 enhances cell death mediated by granzyme A, *Nat Immunol* 4, 145-153.
- Fallarino, F., Grohmann, U., Hwang, K. W., Orabona, C., Vacca, C., Bianchi, R., Belladonna, M. L., Fioretti, M. C., Alegre, M. L., and Puccetti, P. (2003) Modulation of tryptophan catabolism by regulatory T cells, *Nat Immunol 4*, 1206-1212.
- 9. Thomas, S. R., and Stocker, R. (1999) Redox reactions related to indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and tryptophan metabolism along the kynurenine pathway, *Redox Rep 4*, 199-220.
- 10. Srivastava, M. K., Sinha, P., Clements, V. K., Rodriguez, P., and Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. (2010) Myeloid-derived suppressor cells inhibit T-cell activation by depleting cystine and cysteine, *Cancer Res 70*, 68-77.
- 11. Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. (2010) Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: more mechanisms for inhibiting antitumor immunity, *Cancer Immunol Immunother 59*, 1593-1600.
- 12. Vene, R., Delfino, L., Castellani, P., Balza, E., Bertolotti, M., Sitia, R., and Rubartelli, A. (2010) Redox remodeling allows and controls B-cell activation and differentiation, *Antioxid Redox Signal 13*, 1145-1155.

- 13. Angelini, G., Gardella, S., Ardy, M., Ciriolo, M. R., Filomeni, G., Di Trapani, G., Clarke, F., Sitia, R., and Rubartelli, A. (2002) Antigen-presenting dendritic cells provide the reducing extracellular microenvironment required for T lymphocyte activation, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99*, 1491-1496.
- Leichert, L. I., Gehrke, F., Gudiseva, H. V., Blackwell, T., Ilbert, M., Walker, A. K., Strahler, J. R., Andrews, P. C., and Jakob, U. (2008) Quantifying changes in the thiol redox proteome upon oxidative stress in vivo, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 8197-8202.
- 15. Rodamilans, B., Munoz, I. G., Bragado-Nilsson, E., Sarrias, M. R., Padilla, O., Blanco, F. J., Lozano, F., and Montoya, G. (2007) Crystal structure of the third extracellular domain of CD5 reveals the fold of a group B scavenger cysteine-rich receptor domain, *J Biol Chem 282*, 12669-12677.
- 16. de Dios, I., Ramudo, L., Garcia-Montero, A. C., and Manso, M. A. (2006) Redoxsensitive modulation of CD45 expression in pancreatic acinar cells during acute pancreatitis, *J Pathol 210*, 234-239.
- 17. Kwon, M., Yoon, C. S., Jeong, W., Rhee, S. G., and Waisman, D. M. (2005) Annexin A2-S100A10 heterotetramer, a novel substrate of thioredoxin, *J Biol Chem 280*, 23584-23592.
- 18. Nakamura, H., Masutani, H., and Yodoi, J. (2006) Extracellular thioredoxin and thioredoxin-binding protein 2 in control of cancer, *Semin Cancer Biol 16*, 444-451.
- 19. Arner, E. S., and Holmgren, A. (2000) Physiological functions of thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase, *Eur J Biochem* 267, 6102-6109.
- Bertini, R., Howard, O. M., Dong, H. F., Oppenheim, J. J., Bizzarri, C., Sergi, R., Caselli, G., Pagliei, S., Romines, B., Wilshire, J. A., Mengozzi, M., Nakamura, H., Yodoi, J., Pekkari, K., Gurunath, R., Holmgren, A., Herzenberg, L. A., and Ghezzi, P. (1999) Thioredoxin, a redox enzyme released in infection and inflammation, is a unique chemoattractant for neutrophils, monocytes, and T cells, *J Exp Med 189*, 1783-1789.
- 21. Matthias, L. J., Yam, P. T., Jiang, X. M., Vandegraaff, N., Li, P., Poumbourios, P., Donoghue, N., and Hogg, P. J. (2002) Disulfide exchange in domain 2 of CD4 is required for entry of HIV-1, *Nat Immunol 3*, 727-732.
- 22. Schwertassek, U., Balmer, Y., Gutscher, M., Weingarten, L., Preuss, M., Engelhard, J., Winkler, M., and Dick, T. P. (2007) Selective redox regulation of cytokine receptor signaling by extracellular thioredoxin-1, *EMBO J 26*, 3086-3097.

- Xu, S. Z., Sukumar, P., Zeng, F., Li, J., Jairaman, A., English, A., Naylor, J., Ciurtin, C., Majeed, Y., Milligan, C. J., Bahnasi, Y. M., Al-Shawaf, E., Porter, K. E., Jiang, L. H., Emery, P., Sivaprasadarao, A., and Beech, D. J. (2008) TRPC channel activation by extracellular thioredoxin, *Nature 451*, 69-72.
- Jikimoto, T., Nishikubo, Y., Koshiba, M., Kanagawa, S., Morinobu, S., Morinobu, A., Saura, R., Mizuno, K., Kondo, S., Toyokuni, S., Nakamura, H., Yodoi, J., and Kumagai, S. (2002) Thioredoxin as a biomarker for oxidative stress in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, *Mol Immunol 38*, 765-772.